DOI 10.1070/RM2014v069n06ABEH004928

# The flux problem for the Navier–Stokes equations

M. V. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, V. V. Pukhnachev, and R. Russo

Abstract. This is a survey of results on the Leray problem (1933) for the Navier–Stokes equations of an incompressible fluid in a domain with multiple boundary components. Imposed on the boundary of the domain are inhomogeneous boundary conditions which satisfy the necessary requirement of zero total flux. The authors have proved that the problem is solvable in arbitrary bounded planar or axially symmetric domains. The proof uses Bernoulli's law for weak solutions of the Euler equations and a generalization of the Morse–Sard theorem for functions in Sobolev spaces. New a priori bounds for the Dirichlet integral of the velocity vector field in symmetric flows, as well as estimates for the regular component of the velocity in flows with singularities of source/sink type are presented.

Bibliography: 60 titles.

**Keywords:** Navier–Stokes and Euler equations, multiple boundary components, Dirichlet integral, virtual drain, Bernoulli's law, maximum principle.

# Contents

1. Introduction	1066
2. Historical survey	1070
2.1. Hopf's lemma	1070
2.2. A method for proving an a priori bound by contradiction	1073
2.3. The symmetric planar flux problem	1075
2.4. Local results	1081
2.5. Flows close to potential flows	1083
2.6. The flux problem in a circular annulus	1085
2.7. Axially symmetric problems	1086

AMS 2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 35Q30, 35Q31, 76D05; Secondary 76D07, 76D10.

© 2014 Russian Academy of Sciences (DoM), London Mathematical Society, Turpion Ltd.

The first author was supported by grant no. 14-01-00768-a from the Russian Foundation for Basic Research and grant no. MД-5146.2013.1 for Support of Young Doctors of the Sciences from the President of the Russian Federation, the second author was supported by grant no. CH-ŠMM-01/01 from the Lithuanian–Swiss Cooperation Programme, and the third author was supported by the Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences (grant no. 38 of the Programme of Joint Integration Projects of the Siberian, Ural, and Far-Eastern Branches of the Russian Academy of Sciences).

3. An existence theorem in the general planar case	1091
3.1. Auxiliary results	1092
3.2. Leray's argument by contradiction	1093
3.3. Arriving at a contradiction	1096
4. The axially symmetric case	1102
4.1. Some results on the Euler equations	1105
4.2. Arriving at a contradiction	1105
5. Supplement to $\S\S 3$ and 4	1107
6. Solutions with singularities in the flow region	1108
6.1. Planar flows	1108
6.2. Axially symmetric flows	1113
7. Conclusion	1116
Bibliography	1118

### 1. Introduction

We consider boundary-value problems for the Navier–Stokes equations in domains with multiple boundary components. These equations are the basic mathematical model used in hydrodynamics. For a steady flow of an incompressible fluid they have the form

$$-\nu\Delta \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{f}, \qquad x \in \Omega, \tag{1.1}$$

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega. \tag{1.2}$$

Here  $\mathbf{u}(x)$  is the velocity vector, p(x) is the ratio of the pressure to the constant density of the fluid,  $\mathbf{f}$  is the acceleration of the external mass forces,  $\nu = \text{const} > 0$ is the kinematic viscosity coefficient, and  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (n = 2, 3). On its boundary  $\partial \Omega$  we impose the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{a}(x), \qquad x \in \partial\Omega. \tag{1.3}$$

Assume that  $\partial \Omega$  consists of N+1 connected components  $\Gamma_i$ ,

$$\partial \Omega = \Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_2 \cup \cdots \cup \Gamma_N,$$

and  $\Gamma_i \cap \Gamma_j = \emptyset$  for  $i \neq j$ . Here the surface (curve)  $\Gamma_0$  bounds  $\Omega$  from the outside, while the other connected components of the boundary  $\Gamma_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ , lie inside this surface, so that

$$\Omega = \Omega_0 \setminus \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^N \overline{\Omega}_i\right), \qquad \overline{\Omega}_i \subset \Omega_0, \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$
(1.4)

and  $\Gamma_i = \partial \Omega_i$  (see Fig. 1). In view of the continuity equation (1.2), the function **a** must satisfy the condition

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = \sum_{i=0}^{N} \int_{\Gamma_i} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = 0 \tag{1.5}$$



Figure 1. The domain  $\Omega$ 

(here **n** is the unit outward normal to  $\partial\Omega$ ), which means that the flux of the incompressible fluid across the boundary of the flow region is equal to zero. In the case when  $\Omega$  has a connected boundary (that is, N = 0) and certain smoothness conditions are fulfilled, Leray proved the solvability of (1.1)-(1.3) in his famous 1933 paper [1]. The same result holds when the flux  $F_i$  of the velocity vector across each connected component  $\Gamma_i$  of the boundary vanishes:

$$\int_{\Gamma_i} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS \equiv F_i = 0, \qquad i = 0, 1, \dots, N.$$
(1.6)

(This condition means that the flow region contains neither sources nor sinks.)

It remained an open question as to whether the necessary condition  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} F_i = 0$  (see (1.5)) is sufficient for (1.1)–(1.3) to be solvable. We are interested in the situation when (1.6) fails to hold. In that case we shall call the problem (1.1)–(1.3) the steady flux problem for the Navier–Stokes equations. It is also called the **Leray problem** because it actually goes back to his paper [1] cited above.

The Navier–Stokes equations have long attracted the interest of mathematicians: suffice it to mention that Leray's result on the solvability of (1.1)-(1.3), (1.6) was the first example when the topological Leray–Schauder fixed point principle was applied to a concrete problem in mechanics. The method of matching asymptotic expansions was developed by Prandtl in his analysis of the flow problem for (1.1) as  $\nu \to 0$ . The extension of the notion of an elliptic system of differential equations was a by-product of Douglis and Nirenberg's investigation of a linearized version of (1.1).

Let us now consider a non-stationary analogue of (1.1)-(1.3). In it one must find a solution  $\mathbf{u}(x,t)$ , p(x,t) of the system

$$\mathbf{u}_t + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u} - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{f}, \qquad x \in \Omega, \quad t \in (0, T), \tag{1.7}$$

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega, \quad t \in (0, T), \tag{1.8}$$

which satisfies the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{a}, \qquad x \in \partial\Omega, \quad t \in (0, T), \tag{1.9}$$

and the initial condition

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}_0(x), \qquad x \in \Omega, \quad t = 0. \tag{1.10}$$

A generalized solution of (1.7)-(1.10) satisfies the energy identity, which implies that the  $L^2(\Omega)$ -norm of  $\mathbf{u}(x,t)$  is bounded for almost all  $t \in (0,T)$ . No restrictions on the values of the partial fluxes across the connected boundary components  $\Gamma_i$ of  $\partial \Omega$  are imposed. This estimate can be improved using methods presented in Ladyzhenskaya's book [2], resulting eventually in a proof of the unique solvability of the two-dimensional problem for any T > 0. As for the three-dimensional problem, the unique solvability of the problem (1.7)-(1.10) in a suitable class of generalized solutions could be proved only on a finite time interval whose length tends to zero with increasing norm of  $\mathbf{u}_0$ . Hopf [3] proved the existence of a weak generalized solution of the three-dimensional problem on each finite time interval. To prove that the Hopf solution is smooth (and therefore unique) is one of the seven Millenium Prize Problems. It is indisputably the central problem of mathematical hydrodynamics, but its inclusion in the Millenium list had the consequence of overshadowing other problems connected with the Navier–Stokes equations. On the other hand, there exist many other interesting current problems in this list; several such problems were formulated by Yudovich [4]. The steady flux problem (1.1)-(1.3)was among these.

Assume that the domain  $\Omega$  has a Lipschitz boundary  $\partial\Omega$  and that the function **a** in (1.3) belongs to the class  $W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$ . If the boundary vector field **a** satisfies (1.5), then it has a divergence-free extension **A** to  $\Omega$  such that  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and

$$\|\mathbf{A}\|_{W^{1,2}(\Omega)} \leqslant c \|\mathbf{a}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)} \tag{1.11}$$

(see [5]; here and below, c denotes various positive constants). Let  $H(\Omega)$  be the Hilbert space equal to the completion of the set of divergence-free vector-valued functions  $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in the metric corresponding to the inner product

$$[\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\eta}] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx, \qquad \text{where} \quad \nabla \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} \, \frac{\partial \eta_i}{\partial x_j}$$

We call a vector field  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  a generalized solution of (1.1)–(1.3) if the following conditions hold:

(a) there exists a divergence-free vector-valued function  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  such that  $\mathbf{A}|_{\partial\Omega} = \mathbf{a}$  and  $\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{A} = \mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega)$ ;

(b) w satisfies the integral identity

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \left( (\mathbf{w} + \mathbf{A}) \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \left( \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx$$
$$= -\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \left( \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx \qquad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega).$$
(1.12)

This identity is equivalent to the operator equation

$$\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{w} \tag{1.13}$$

in the Hilbert space  $H(\Omega)$ , where T is the operator defined by

$$[\mathbf{T}\mathbf{w},\boldsymbol{\eta}] = \nu^{-1} \int_{\Omega} ((\mathbf{w} + \mathbf{A}) \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, dx + \nu^{-1} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx + \nu^{-1} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx + \nu^{-1} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx \quad \forall \, \mathbf{w}, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega).$$

This operator is completely continuous, so we can use the Leray–Schauder fixed point theorem [2] to prove that (1.13) is solvable. To do this it is sufficient to show that all solutions of the equation

$$\mathbf{w}^{(\lambda)} = \lambda \mathbf{T} \mathbf{w}^{(\lambda)}, \qquad \lambda \in [0, 1], \tag{1.14}$$

are bounded in the norm of  $H(\Omega)$ , or in other words, they have a bounded Dirichlet integral

$$I = [\mathbf{w}, \mathbf{w}] \equiv \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{w} \, dx. \tag{1.15}$$

In his pathbreaking paper [1] Leray proved that all solutions of (1.1)-(1.3) satisfying the additional condition (1.6) have a bounded Dirichlet integral. His proof was by contradiction and did not give any a priori estimate for the Dirichlet integral (1.15) in terms of the problem data. Under the additional assumption (1.6)such a bound was first obtained by Hopf [6] in 1941. Both these papers prompted further investigations of the flux problem.

Hopf's construction was also used to replace the restrictive condition (1.6) by the assumption that the fluxes  $F_i$  are small [7]–[13]. Parts of this construction, in combination with the notion of a virtual drain introduced in [10] and [14], underlie the solvability proof for two-dimensional flux problems with the additional assumptions of symmetry of the flow region and the boundary vector field **a** (see [14]–[16]). In the earlier paper [17] Amick proved the solvability of the planar symmetric flux problem by contradiction. In [14]–[16] the proof was based on a priori bounds for the Dirichlet integral of the velocity vector field. Important in themselves, these bounds are also needed in justifying methods used for the numerical solution of the flux problem, such as finite difference methods or the Galerkin method.

Leray's argument, enriched with new methods from the theory of functions and the theory of elliptic equations, resulted in the solution of the Leray problem in the planar and axially symmetric cases: the planar and the axially symmetric flux problems were proved to be solvable for any values of the fluxes of the velocity vector across the connected boundary components of the flow region [18]–[24]. It is important that no constraints were imposed on the topology of the flow region. Results from [18]–[24] are central in this survey. The main result was proved by three of the authors in the planar case [22], and it can be stated as follows.

**Theorem 1.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain with  $C^2$ -boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . If  $\mathbf{f} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and the boundary data  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$  satisfy the condition (1.5), then the problem (1.1)–(1.3) has at least one generalized solution  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

Remark 1.1. It is well known (see, for instance, [2]) that under the assumptions of Theorem 1.1 each weak solution  $\mathbf{u}$  of (1.1)-(1.3) has enhanced smoothness:  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap W^{3,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . That is, the solution is as regular as the problem data allow. In particular,  $\mathbf{u}$  is  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth if  $\mathbf{f}$ ,  $\mathbf{a}$ , and  $\partial\Omega$  are in the smoothness class  $C^{\infty}$ .

The proof of the existence theorem is based on a priori bounds derived by means of a reductio ad absurdum argument put forward already by Leray [1]. A novel feature in the application of this argument is the use of Bernoulli's law for Sobolev solutions of the Euler equations, which was obtained in [18] (a proof with all details was presented in [19]). The results on Bernoulli's law are based on the recent version of the Morse–Sard theorem established by Bourgain, Korobkov, and Kristensen in the joint paper [25]. In particular, it follows from this theorem that for a function  $\psi \in W^{2,1}(\Omega)$  almost all its level sets are unions of finitely many  $C^1$ -curves. This enables one to construct an appropriate subregion (bounded by smooth streamlines) and to find an estimate for the  $L^2$ -norm of the total head pressure gradient. Some ideas which are close (heuristically) to Hopf's maximum principle for solutions of elliptic systems of partial differential equations are used in the proof (see § 3.3.1 for more details). Eventually, the desired contradiction is obtained with the use of the co-area formula.

Apart from the main problem (1.1)-(1.3) we shall investigate here its singular analogues: the axially symmetric problem with sources or sinks on the axis of symmetry and the planar problem with a source or a sink in the flow region. In addition, we look at the axially symmetric flux problem in the 'stream function-vorticity' variables in a domain like a spherical layer. We conclude the paper by listing possible generalizations of our results and by stating unsolved problems.

## 2. Historical survey

**2.1. Hopf's lemma.** The flux problem for the Navier–Stokes equations has been the subject of more than 100 papers by authors from 11 countries. We start by presenting Hopf's results from [6], where he gave an estimate of the Dirichlet integral for generalized solutions of the problem (1.1)–(1.3), (1.6). Setting  $\eta = \mathbf{w}$  in the identity (1.12) and using the equalities

$$\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, dx = 0, \quad \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, dx = 0 \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega),$$

we arrive at the equality

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{w} \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{A} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \, dx - \nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{w} \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{A} \cdot (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \, dx.$$
(2.1)

The main difficulty in finding a priori estimates for solutions is to estimate the first integral on the right-hand side of (2.1). If (1.6) holds, then we can use Hopf's lemma to this end.

**Lemma 2.1** (Hopf). Let  $\Omega$  be a domain with Lipschitz boundary  $\partial\Omega$  and let  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$ . If (1.6) is satisfied, then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  the field  $\mathbf{a}$  has a divergence-free extension  $\mathbf{A}(\cdot, \varepsilon) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  to  $\Omega$  such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{A} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \, dx \right| \leq \varepsilon \| \nabla \mathbf{w} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega).$$
 (2.2)

The proof of this lemma is carried out in two steps. First we extend the boundary field **a** as  $\mathbf{B} = \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D}$ , where  $\mathbf{D} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , and then we modify this extension using the Hopf cutoff function  $\zeta(x,\varepsilon)$ , which depends on the parameter  $\varepsilon > 0$ , in such a way that  $\mathbf{A} = \operatorname{curl}(\zeta(x,\varepsilon)\mathbf{D}(x))$  [6]. The function  $\zeta$  has the following properties:  $\zeta = 1$  for  $x \in \Gamma_i$  with  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ ; the support of  $\zeta$  lies in a small neighbourhood of the surface  $\partial\Omega$ ;  $\zeta$  decays rapidly away from this surface; finally,

$$|\nabla \zeta(x,\varepsilon)| \leqslant \frac{c\varepsilon}{d(x)}\,,$$

where  $d(x) = \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega)$ , and the constant *c* is independent of  $\varepsilon$ . A thorough proof of Hopf's lemma for **a** satisfying (1.6), provided that there exists a **B** = curl **D** such that **B** $|_{\partial\Omega} = \mathbf{a}$ , was presented by Ladyzhenskaya in [2]. An effective construction of a vector field **B** = curl **D** for smooth surfaces  $\Gamma_i$  was given by Fujita [7] and Finn [8]. We can extend the boundary field **a** to  $\Omega$  as a curl only when all the fluxes of **a** across the boundary components  $\Gamma_i$  are zero, that is, when (1.6) holds.

For planar or axially symmetric flows the required representation for the field **B** can easily be obtained in terms of the stream function. For a planar flow the stream function  $\psi(x_1, x_2)$  of a divergence-free vector field **B** is determined by the equations

$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x_2} = B_1, \qquad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x_1} = -B_2$$

If (1.6) holds, then we can construct  $\psi$  as a solution of the problem

$$\Delta \Delta \psi = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$
  
$$\psi = \int_0^s \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS, \quad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial n} = \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{s}, \qquad x \in \Gamma_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, N.$$

Here s and 0 are the current point and a fixed point on  $\Gamma_i$  and s is the unit tangent vector to this curve. The solution of this problem is uniquely defined because of (1.6).

Now we take a smooth function  $\gamma\in C^\infty(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $0\leqslant \gamma(t)\leqslant 1$  and

$$\gamma(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & t \ge 1, \\ 0, & t \le 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

and we let

$$\zeta(x,\delta) = \gamma \left(\delta \log \frac{\rho}{\Delta(x)}\right),\tag{2.4}$$

where  $\rho$  is a sufficiently small positive number and  $\Delta(x)$  is the generalized distance from the point  $x \in \Omega$  to the boundary  $\partial \Omega$ . We recall that  $\Delta(x)$  is an infinitely differentiable function of  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \partial \Omega$  with the following properties:

$$a_1 d(x) \leq \Delta(x) \leq a_2 d(x), \qquad |D^{\alpha} \Delta(x)| \leq a_3(\alpha) d^{1-|\alpha|}(x)$$
 (2.5)

(see [26]). It is easy to see that  $\zeta$  is infinitely differentiable,  $\zeta(x, \delta)|_{\partial\Omega} = 1$ ,  $\zeta$  vanishes identically outside a small neighbourhood of the boundary,

$$\zeta(x,\delta) = \begin{cases} 1, & \Delta(x) \leqslant e^{-1/\delta}\rho, \\ 0, & \Delta(x) \geqslant \rho, \end{cases}$$

and we have

$$|\nabla\zeta(x,\delta)| \leqslant \frac{c\delta}{d(x)} \tag{2.6}$$

with a constant c independent of  $\delta$ .

We set  $\mathbf{A}(x, \delta) = \operatorname{curl}(\zeta(x, \delta)\mathbf{D}(x))$ . Clearly,  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ ,

div 
$$\mathbf{A} = 0$$
,  $\mathbf{A}|_{\partial\Omega} = \mathbf{a}$ , supp  $\mathbf{A} \subset \{x \in \Omega \colon \Delta(x) \leq \rho\}$ ,

$$\mathbf{A}(x,\delta) = \nabla \zeta(x,\delta) \times \mathbf{D}(x) + \zeta(x,\delta) \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D}(x) =: \mathbf{A}_1(x,\delta) + \mathbf{A}_2(x,\delta),$$

and

$$|\mathbf{A}_1(x,\delta)| \leqslant \frac{c\delta}{d(x)}, \qquad |\mathbf{A}_2(x,\delta)| \leqslant |\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D}(x)|.$$
(2.7)

We can now estimate the integral  $\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx \leqslant \left( \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{w}|^2 |\mathbf{A}|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant 2 \left( \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{w}|^2 |\mathbf{A}_1|^2 \, dx + \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{w}|^2 |\mathbf{A}_2|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant c \left( \delta^2 \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\mathbf{w}(x)|^2}{d^2(x)} \, dx + \int_{\{x \in \Omega: \ \Delta(x) \leqslant \rho\}} |\mathbf{w}|^2 |\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D}|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$
(2.8)

If the domain has a Lipschitz boundary, then we can use Hardy's inequality to prove the estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{|\mathbf{w}(x)|^2}{d^2(x)} \, dx \leqslant c \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}(x)|^2 \, dx$$

(see [2]). Furthermore, by embedding theorems and Friedrichs' inequality,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{x\in\Omega:\;\Delta(x)\leqslant\rho\}} |\mathbf{w}|^2 |\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D}|^2 \, dx \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\{x\in\Omega:\;\Delta(x)\leqslant\rho\}} |\mathbf{w}|^4 \, dx\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\{x\in\Omega:\;\Delta(x)\leqslant\rho\}} |\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D}|^4 \, dx\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant c \left(\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}|^2 \, dx\right) \|\mathbf{D}\|_{W^{2,2}(\{x:\;\Delta(x)\leqslant\rho\})}^2. \end{split}$$

Hence, we can rewrite (2.8) as

$$\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx \leqslant c \left( \delta^2 + \|\mathbf{D}\|_{W^{2,2}(\{x: \ \Delta(x) \leqslant \rho\})}^2 \right)^{1/2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}|^2 \, dx.$$
(2.9)

For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  we take  $\delta = \varepsilon/(2c)$  and choose a sufficiently small  $\rho > 0$  so that

$$\|\mathbf{D}\|_{W_2^2(\{x:\ \Delta(x)\leqslant\rho\})}\leqslant \frac{\varepsilon}{2c};$$

then we can deduce Hopf's inequality (2.2) from (2.9).

1072

Now that we have at our disposal a vector field  $\mathbf{A}(\cdot,\varepsilon) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  such that  $\mathbf{A}|_{\partial\Omega} = \mathbf{a}$  and (2.2) holds with  $\varepsilon = \nu/2$ , we can deduce from (2.1) the a priori estimate

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{w}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \leqslant c \left( \|\nabla \mathbf{A}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|\mathbf{A}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}^{2} \right), \qquad (2.10)$$

which ensures that the problem (1.1)-(1.3), (1.6) is solvable.

Thus, we see that the condition (1.6) is sufficient for the existence (for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ) of a divergence-free extension  $\mathbf{A}(x,\varepsilon)$  of **a** satisfying (2.2). But it turns out that (1.6) is also a necessary condition. The first counterexample demonstrating this was due to Takeshita [27] (1993). Here we present a simplified version of Takeshita's construction, which was presented in Galdi's book [28]. Let  $\Omega$  be an annulus:  $\Omega = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : R_1 < |x| < R_2\}$ . Suppose that

$$F = \int_{S_{R_2}} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = -\int_{S_{R_1}} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS < 0.$$
(2.11)

Representing the vector field **A** in polar variables  $(r, \theta)$  and using the fact that **A** is divergence-free, that is,

$$\frac{\partial(rA_r)}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial A_\theta}{\partial \theta} = 0,$$

we deduce from (2.11) that

$$r \int_0^{2\pi} A_r(r,\theta,\varepsilon) d\theta = F \qquad \forall r \in (R_1,R_2).$$

Let us take a vector field  $\mathbf{w} = u(r)\mathbf{e}_{\theta}$  with  $u \in C_0^{\infty}[R_1, R_2]$ . Obviously,  $\mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega)$ , and for such  $\mathbf{w}$  we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{A} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \, dx = -\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, dx$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \left( \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial A_{\theta}}{\partial \theta} + \frac{A_r}{r} \right) u^2(r) \, dx = -F \int_{R}^{R_2} \frac{u^2(r)}{r} \, dr. \quad (2.12)$$

If (2.2) holds, then (2.12) implies that

$$-F\int_{R_1}^R \frac{u^2(r)}{r}\,dx \leqslant \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \mathbf{w}|^2\,dx$$

for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ . But this inequality is clearly impossible if F < 0.

More general counterexamples were constructed later by Farwig, Kozono, and Yanagisawa [29] and by Heywood [30]. In particular, Heywood gave a counterexample valid for F > 0 as well.

**2.2.** A method for proving an a priori bound by contradiction. If (1.6) fails to hold, that is, the fluxes  $F_i$  are non-zero,<sup>1</sup> then the method described above

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = \sum_{i=0}^{N} \int_{\Gamma_i} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = \sum_{i=0}^{N} F_i = 0.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In view of the necessary condition (1.5), the total flux vanishes:

does not work. However, one can attempt to prove the required a priori bound by contradiction. This idea was first proposed by Leray [1] and has been subsequently used and modified by many authors (see, for instance, [2], [31]–[33], [17], [19]).

Let  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  be some extension of the boundary field **a**. We must show that the solutions  $\mathbf{w}^{(\lambda)}$  of the operator equation (1.14) have norms bounded by a constant independent of  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ . Suppose not. Then there exist sequences  $\{\lambda_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset [0, 1]$  and  $\{\mathbf{w}_k = \mathbf{w}^{(\lambda_k)}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in H(\Omega)$  such that

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{w}_{k} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx - \lambda_{k} \int_{\Omega} \left( (\mathbf{w}_{k} + \mathbf{A}) \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{w}_{k} \, dx - \lambda_{k} \int_{\Omega} \left( \mathbf{w}_{k} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx$$
$$= -\lambda_{k} \nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx + \lambda_{k} \int_{\Omega} \left( \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx + \lambda_{k} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega)$$
(2.13)

and

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k = \lambda_0 \in [0, 1], \qquad \lim_{k \to \infty} J_k = \lim_{k \to \infty} \|\mathbf{w}_k\|_{H(\Omega)} = \infty.$$
(2.14)

Let  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}_k = J_k^{-1} \mathbf{w}_k$ . Since  $\|\widehat{\mathbf{w}}_k\|_{H(\Omega)} = 1$ , there exists a subsequence  $\{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}_{k_l}\}$  converging weakly in  $H(\Omega)$  to a vector field  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \in H(\Omega)$ . And since the embedding  $H(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^r(\Omega)$  is compact for all  $r \in [1, \infty)$  if n = 2 and for all  $r \in [1, 6)$  if n = 3, the subsequence  $\{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}_{k_l}\}$  converges strongly in  $L^r(\Omega)$ . We set  $\boldsymbol{\eta} = J_{k_l}^{-1}\widehat{\mathbf{w}}_{k_l}$  in (2.13), and, taking the limit as  $k_l \to \infty$  in the resulting equality, we get that

$$\nu = \lambda_0 \int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx. \tag{2.15}$$

In particular, it follows from (2.15) that  $\lambda_0 > 0$ . Hence the  $\lambda_k$  are bounded away from zero.

Now we take  $\boldsymbol{\eta} = J_{k_l}^{-2} \boldsymbol{\xi}$  in (2.13), where  $\boldsymbol{\xi}$  is an arbitrary vector field in  $H(\Omega)$ . Again we take the limit as  $k_l \to \infty$  and deduce the integral identity

$$\int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi} \, dx = 0 \qquad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\xi} \in H(\Omega).$$
(2.16)

Thus,  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \in H(\Omega)$  is a generalized solution of the boundary-value problem for the Euler system

$$\begin{cases} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} + \nabla \widehat{p} = 0, & x \in \Omega, \\ \operatorname{div} \widehat{\mathbf{w}} = 0, & x \in \Omega, \\ \widehat{\mathbf{w}} = 0, & x \in \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

The function  $\hat{p}$  in (2.17) belongs to  $W^{1,s}(\Omega)$ , where  $s \in [1, 2)$  if n = 2 and  $s \in [1, 3/2]$  if n = 3. Since  $\hat{\mathbf{w}} = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , we can use (2.17) to prove that the pressure  $\hat{p}$  takes constant values  $\hat{p}_j$  on the connected components  $\Gamma_j$  of  $\partial\Omega$ . The next result was established in [33] (Lemma 4) and [17] (Theorem 2.2) (see also [19], Remark 3.2).

**Lemma 2.2.** For each solution  $(\mathbf{w}, p) \in (H(\Omega), W^{1,s}(\Omega))$  of (2.17) there exist constants  $\hat{p}_i \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\left. \widehat{p}(x) \right|_{\Gamma_i} = \widehat{p}_i, \qquad i = 0, 1, \dots, N.$$
(2.18)

Taking the inner product of the Euler system (2.17) with **A**, we integrate the result by parts. Then by (2.18),

$$\int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx = -\int_{\partial \Omega} \widehat{p} \, \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = -\sum_{i=0}^{N} \widehat{p}_i \int_{\Gamma_i} \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = -\sum_{i=0}^{N} \widehat{p}_i F_i. \tag{2.19}$$

If N = 1 or  $F_i = 0$  for i = 0, 1, ..., N (the condition (1.5) is fulfilled), then (2.19) implies that

$$\int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx = 0. \tag{2.20}$$

This contradicts (2.15). Hence, for  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  our assumption fails and the norms of the solutions  $\mathbf{w}^{(\lambda)}$  of the operator equation (1.14) are uniformly bounded, so that (1.13) has at least one solution by the Leray–Schauder theorem.

We could make the analogous conclusion in the case when all the constants  $\hat{p}_j$  are equal:

$$\widehat{p}_0 = \widehat{p}_1 = \dots = \widehat{p}_N. \tag{2.21}$$

Indeed, then by (1.5)

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} \widehat{p}_i F_i = \widehat{p}_0 \sum_{i=0}^{N} F_i = 0,$$

and (2.20) follows from (2.19) again. However, we cannot say that in the general case all the  $\hat{p}_i$  are equal: Amick [17] constructed a solution of (2.17) for which (2.21) fails to hold. Let  $\Omega = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 1 < |x| < 2\}$  be a plane annulus and let  $\psi \in C^1([1,2])$ , with  $\psi'(1) = \psi'(2) = 0$  and  $\psi'' \in L^2((1,2))$ . Then the solution of the Euler problem (2.17) is given by

$$\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x) = \left(\frac{x_2}{|x|}\psi'(|x|), -\frac{x_1}{|x|}\psi'(|x|)\right) \in H(\Omega), \qquad \widehat{p}(x) = \int_1^{|x|} \frac{|\psi'(s)|^2}{s} \, ds.$$

It is easy to see that

$$\widehat{p}(x)\big|_{|x|=1} = 0, \qquad \widehat{p}(x)\big|_{|x|=2} = \int_{1}^{2} \frac{|\psi'(s)|^{2}}{s} \, ds > 0.$$

**2.3. The symmetric planar flux problem.** The global solvability of the flux problem without the assumption (1.6) was first established by Amick [17] in 1984. He considered planar flows, assuming that they were symmetric. Following Amick, we give two definitions.

**Definition 2.1.** A bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is said to be *admissible* if it satisfies the following conditions:

- (a)  $\partial \Omega$  consists of  $N + 1 \ge 2$  connected components  $\Gamma_i$ ;
- (b)  $\Omega$  is symmetric relative to the line  $\{x_2 = 0\}$  (see Fig. 2);
- (c) each component  $\Gamma_i$  intersects the line  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ .

**Definition 2.2.** A function  $\mathbf{h} = (h_1, h_2)$  mapping  $\Omega$  or  $\partial \Omega$  into  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is said to be symmetric relative to the line  $\{x_2 = 0\}$  if  $h_1$  is an even function of  $x_2$ , while  $h_2$  is an odd function of  $x_2$ .



Figure 2. A symmetric plane domain

The planar Navier–Stokes equations are known to be invariant under reflections in the coordinate axes. This property allows one to look for symmetric solutions  $(\mathbf{u}, p)$  of the given system in which the velocity  $\mathbf{u}$  is symmetric relative to  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ and the pressure p is an even function of  $x_2$ .

**Theorem 2.1** (Amick [17]). Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be an admissible domain with Lipschitz boundary  $\partial\Omega$ , and let  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{f} \in L^2(\Omega)$  be symmetric functions relative to  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ . Then for any  $\nu > 0$  the problem (1.1)–(1.3) has a generalized solution  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . In it the velocity vector  $\mathbf{u}$  is symmetric relative to  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ and the corresponding pressure p is an even function of  $x_2$ .

Amick proved this result by contradiction. We reproduce his arguments showing that all the constants  $\hat{p}_i = \hat{p}(x)|_{\Gamma_i}$  giving the pressure in the Euler problem (2.17) are equal, that is, (2.21) holds. As shown in § 2.2, this is sufficient for a generalized solution of the Navier–Stokes problem (1.1)–(1.3) to exist.

Let  $\Gamma_0$  be the outer boundary component of  $\partial\Omega$ . We shall show that  $\hat{p}_0 = \hat{p}_i$ for i = 1, ..., N. The set  $\{x: x_2 = 0\} \cap \Gamma_i$  consists of two points,  $(\alpha_i, 0)$  and  $(\beta_i, 0)$ , where  $\alpha_i < \beta_i$ . In a neighbourhood of  $(\alpha_0, 0)$  the boundary component  $\Gamma_0$ can be represented as a graph  $\Gamma_0 = \{(h_0(x_2), x_2): x_2 \in (-\delta, \delta)\}$  for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ . Similarly, in a neighbourhood of  $(\alpha_1, 0)$  the component  $\Gamma_1$  has the form  $\Gamma_1 = \{(h_1(x_2), x_2): x_2 \in (-\delta, \delta)\}$ . The functions  $h_i$ , i = 0, 1, are Lipschitz continuous. We set

$$B(\delta) = \{x \colon x_1 \in (h_0(x_2), h_1(x_2)), \ x_2 \in (0, \delta)\} \subset \Omega$$

for sufficiently small  $\delta$ .

Let  $\widehat{\Phi}(x) = \widehat{p}(x) + |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^2/2$  denote the total head pressure in the Euler problem (2.17). It is immediate that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}\widehat{\Phi} = -\widehat{w}_2\widehat{\omega},$$

where  $\widehat{\omega} = \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_1}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_2}{\partial x_1}$  is the curl of the velocity vector  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$ . Integrating this equality over  $B(\delta)$  and taking (2.18) into account, we find that

$$\int_0^\delta \left( \widehat{p}(h_1(x_2), x_2) - \widehat{p}(h_0(x_2), x_2) \right) dx_2 = \delta(\widehat{p}_1 - \widehat{p}_0) = -\int_{B(\delta)} \widehat{w}_2 \widehat{\omega} \, dx.$$

By symmetry,  $\widehat{w}_2(x_1,0) = 0$  (in the sense of traces), and therefore by Hardy's inequality

$$\int_{B(\delta)} \frac{|\widehat{w}_2(x_1, x_2)|^2}{x_2^2} \, dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_0^{\delta} \frac{|\widehat{w}_2(x_1, x_2)|^2}{x_2^2} \, dx_2 \, dx_1$$
$$\leqslant 4 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_0^{\delta} \left| \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_2(x_1, x_2)}{\partial x_2} \right|^2 \, dx_2 \, dx_1 \leqslant 4 \int_{B(\delta)} |\nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^2 \, dx$$

Here we have assumed that  $\hat{w}_2$  is extended by zero to  $\mathbb{R} \times (0, \delta) \setminus B(\delta)$ . It follows from the last two relations that

$$\begin{split} |\widehat{p}_{0} - \widehat{p}_{1}|^{2} &\leqslant \frac{1}{\delta^{2}} \left( \int_{B(\delta)} x_{2}^{2} \frac{|\widehat{w}_{2}(x)|^{2}}{x_{2}^{2}} dx \right) \left( \int_{B(\delta)} |\widehat{\omega}(x)|^{2} dx \right) \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{\delta^{2}} \left( 4\delta^{2} \int_{B(\delta)} |\nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^{2} dx \right) \left( 4 \int_{B(\delta)} |\nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^{2} dx \right) \\ &\leqslant 16 \left( \int_{B(\delta)} |\nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^{2} dx \right)^{2} \to 0 \end{split}$$

as  $\delta \to 0$ . Hence  $\hat{p}_0 = \hat{p}_1$ . We can prove similarly that

$$\widehat{p}_1 = \widehat{p}_2, \quad \dots, \quad \widehat{p}_{N-1} = \widehat{p}_N.$$

This completes the proof of (2.21).

Sazonov [10] in 1993 (and independently Fujita [14] in 1997) gave an effective proof of the solvability of the symmetric planar flux problem, by constructing a symmetric extension of the boundary field  $\mathbf{a}$  which satisfies Hopf's inequality (2.2) for symmetric vector fields. Pukhnachev proved a similar result in the spatial problem with an axis of symmetry and a plane of symmetry orthogonal to the axis [15].

Apparently, Sazonov was not aware of Amick's paper [17], but he proved Theorem 2.1 in a simpler way, using the construction of a virtual drain [10]. The term itself is due to Fujita [14], who also established an a priori bound for the Dirichlet integral (1.15) in the symmetric planar flux problem. (Sazonov used an argument by contradiction.) Below we use ideas due to Sazonov and Fujita to construct such an extension. Let

$$H_S(\Omega) = \{ \mathbf{u} \in H(\Omega), \ \mathbf{u} \text{ is symmetric} \}.$$

**Lemma 2.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be an admissible domain with Lipschitz boundary and let  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{1/2,2}(\partial \Omega)$  be a function symmetric relative to the line  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ . Then for any

 $\varepsilon > 0$  the vector field **a** has a symmetric divergence-free extension  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ to  $\Omega$  such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{A} \cdot (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \, dx \right| \leq \varepsilon \| \nabla \mathbf{u} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{u} \in H_{S}(\Omega).$$
 (2.22)

Furthermore, the support of  $\mathbf{A}$  can lie in an arbitrarily narrow strip in  $\overline{\Omega}$  which adjoins  $\partial\Omega$  and the axis of symmetry  $x_1$ . Namely, for any  $\delta > 0$  the support of  $\mathbf{A}$  can be such that

$$\operatorname{supp} \mathbf{A} \subseteq \omega(\delta) := \{ x \in \overline{\Omega} \colon \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega \cup \{ x_2 = 0 \}) \leqslant \delta \}.$$

In order not to overburden the reader with technical details, we present the proof of Lemma 2.3 in the case when  $\partial\Omega$  consists of two connected components,  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_1$ . We can assume without loss of generality that  $\Omega$  does not contain the origin, which lies in the domain bounded by  $\Gamma_1$ . In view of (1.5),  $F_0 = -F_1 = F$ .

In the domain  $\Omega_{+}^{(+)} = \{x \in \Omega : x_1 > 0, x_2 > 0\}$  we take the cutoff function

$$\zeta_{+}(\theta, \delta) = \psi\left(\delta \log \frac{\delta}{\theta}\right), \tag{2.23}$$

where  $\psi(t)$  is the function in (2.3),  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  is sufficiently small, and  $(r, \theta)$  are polar coordinates in the plane. Obviously,

$$\zeta_{+}(\theta, \delta) = \begin{cases} 1, & \theta \leqslant \delta e^{-1/\delta}, \\ 0, & \theta \geqslant \delta. \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

It is easy to see that  $\zeta_+(\theta, \delta) = 1$  in a neighbourhood of the half-line  $\{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \Omega_1 : x_1 > 0, x_2 = 0\}$ . Let  $\widehat{\zeta}_+(\theta, \delta)$  be the function defined in  $\Omega_+ = \{x \in \Omega : x_2 > 0\}$  as the extension of  $\zeta_+(\theta, \delta)$  to  $\Omega_+^{(-)} = \{x \in \Omega_+ : x_1 < 0\}$  as an odd function of  $x_1$ :

$$\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta,\delta) = \begin{cases} \zeta_{+}(\theta,\delta), & \theta \in (0,\pi/2], \\ -\zeta_{+}(\pi-\theta,\delta), & \theta \in [\pi/2,\pi). \end{cases}$$
(2.25)

Since  $\widehat{\zeta}_+(\theta, \delta) = 0$  on the half-line  $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \Omega_1 : x_1 = 0, x_2 > 0\}$ , the function  $\widehat{\zeta}_+$  is smooth for  $x \in \Omega_+$ . Direct calculations show that

$$\left|\frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta,\delta)}{d\theta}\right| \leqslant \frac{c_{1}\delta}{\theta}, \ \theta \in \left(0,\frac{\pi}{2}\right), \qquad \left|\frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta,\delta)}{d\theta}\right| \leqslant \frac{c_{1}\delta}{\pi-\theta}, \ \theta \in \left(\frac{\pi}{2},\pi\right), \ (2.26)$$

$$\frac{\partial \zeta_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{\partial x_{k}} \bigg| \leqslant \frac{c(\delta)}{r} , \qquad \left| \frac{\partial^{2} \zeta_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{r}} \right| \leqslant \frac{c(\delta)}{r^{2}} .$$
(2.27)

The constant  $c_1$  in (2.26) is independent of  $\delta$ , and  $c(\delta)$  in (2.27) tends to  $\infty$  as  $\delta \to 0$ .

Let

$$\mathbf{b}(x) = \nabla \log |x| = \left(\frac{x_1}{|x|^2}, \frac{x_2}{|x|^2}\right).$$

The vector field **b** is divergence-free and symmetric relative to the line  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ . In the polar coordinates it has the form

$$\mathbf{b}(r,\theta) = \left(b_r(r,\theta), b_\theta(r,\theta)\right) = \left(\frac{1}{r}, 0\right). \tag{2.28}$$

In  $\Omega_+$  we consider the vector field

$$\mathbf{B}_{+}(x,\delta) = \left(B_{+,r}(r,\theta,\delta), B_{+,\theta}(r,\theta,\delta)\right) = -\frac{F}{4}\left(\frac{1}{r}\frac{d\zeta_{+}(\theta,\delta)}{d\theta}, 0\right), \quad (2.29)$$

where

$$F = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS.$$

This field is divergence-free:

div 
$$\mathbf{B}_{+} = \frac{\partial B_{+,r}}{\partial r} + \frac{B_{+,r}}{r} = -\frac{F}{4} \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}}{d\theta} \operatorname{div} \mathbf{b}(x) = 0.$$

Moreover, it is easy to verify that

$$\int_{\Gamma_0 \cap \mathbb{R}^2_+} \mathbf{B}_+ \cdot \mathbf{n} \, d\Gamma = -\int_{\Gamma_1 \cap \mathbb{R}^2_+} \mathbf{B}_+ \cdot \mathbf{n} \, d\Gamma = \frac{F}{2}$$
(2.30)

(recall that **n** is the unit outward normal vector relative to  $\Omega$ ).

We claim that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a  $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon)$  such that the field  $\mathbf{B}_+(x, \delta)$  satisfies the inequality

$$\left| \int_{\Omega_{+}} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{B}_{+} \, dx \right| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\Omega_{+}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|^{2} \, dx \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{u} \in H_{S}(\Omega).$$
(2.31)

The integral on the left here can be decomposed into a sum:

$$\mathscr{J} = \int_{\Omega_{+}} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{B}_{+} dx = -\frac{F}{4} \int_{\Omega_{+}} u_{r} \frac{\partial u_{r}}{\partial r} \frac{1}{r} \frac{d\zeta_{+}}{d\theta} dx$$
$$-\frac{F}{4} \int_{\Omega_{+}} u_{\theta} \left(\frac{\partial u_{r}}{\partial \theta} - u_{\theta}\right) \frac{1}{r^{2}} \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}}{d\theta} dx =: -\frac{F}{4} (\mathscr{J}_{1} + \mathscr{J}_{2}). \tag{2.32}$$

Without loss of generality we assume that **u** is extended by zero to  $\mathbb{R}^2_+ \setminus \Omega_+$ . We consider  $\mathscr{J}_1$ . Let

$$B_R = \{x \colon |x| < R\} \supset \Omega, \qquad B_{+,R} = \{x \in B_R \colon x_2 > 0\}.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{J}_{1} &= \int_{\Omega_{+}} u_{r}(x) \frac{\partial u_{r}(x)}{\partial r} \frac{1}{r} \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{d\theta} \, dx = \int_{B_{+,R}} u_{r}(x) \frac{\partial u_{r}(x)}{\partial r} \frac{1}{r} \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{d\theta} \, dx \\ &= \int_{0}^{\pi} \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{d\theta} \left( \int_{0}^{R} u_{r}(r, \theta) \frac{\partial u_{r}(r, \theta)}{\partial r} \, dr \right) d\theta \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\pi} \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{d\theta} |u_{r}(R, \theta)|^{2} \, d\theta = 0. \end{split}$$

By symmetry  $u_{\theta}(x)|_{x_2=0} = 0$ . Hence, it follows from (2.26) and from Hardy's and Friedrichs' inequalities that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_{+}} \frac{|u_{\theta}(x)|^{2}}{r^{2}} \left| \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta,\delta)}{d\theta} \right|^{2} dx &= \int_{B_{+,R}} \frac{|u_{\theta}(x)|^{2}}{r^{2}} \left| \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta,\delta)}{d\theta} \right|^{2} dx \\ &\leqslant c\delta^{2} \left( \int_{0}^{R} \frac{dr}{r} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \frac{|u_{\theta}(r,\theta)|^{2}}{\theta^{2}} d\theta + \int_{0}^{R} \frac{dr}{r} \int_{\pi/2}^{\pi} \frac{|u_{\theta}(r,\theta)|^{2}}{(\pi-\theta)^{2}} d\theta \right) \\ &\leqslant c\delta^{2} \int_{B_{+,R}} \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left| \frac{\partial u_{\theta}(x)}{\partial \theta} \right|^{2} dx \leqslant c\delta^{2} \left( \int_{\Omega_{+}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\Omega_{+}} \frac{|u_{r}(x)|^{2}}{r^{2}} dx \right) \\ &\leqslant c\delta^{2} \left( \int_{\Omega_{+}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\Omega_{+}} |u_{r}(x)|^{2} dx \right) \leqslant c\delta^{2} \int_{\Omega_{+}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}(x)|^{2} dx. \end{split}$$

Here we have also used the expression for the gradient  $\nabla \mathbf{u}$  of a vector-valued function in polar coordinates:

$$\nabla \mathbf{u} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial r} & \frac{1}{r} \left( \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial \theta} - u_\theta \right) \\ \\ \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial r} & \frac{1}{r} \left( \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial \theta} + u_r \right) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Similarly,  $\mathcal{J}_2$  has the estimate

$$\begin{split} |\mathscr{J}_{2}| &\leqslant \left(\int_{\Omega_{+}} \frac{|u_{\theta}(x)|^{2}}{r^{2}} \left| \frac{d\widehat{\zeta}_{+}(\theta, \delta)}{d\theta} \right|^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Omega_{+}} \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left| \frac{\partial u_{r}(x)}{\partial \theta} - u_{\theta}(x) \right|^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant c\delta \int_{\Omega_{+}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}(x)|^{2} dx. \end{split}$$

Taking  $\delta$  sufficiently small, we deduce (2.31) from the estimates for  $\mathscr{J}_1$  and  $\mathscr{J}_2$ .

Next we extend  $\mathbf{B}_+(x,\delta)$  to  $\Omega_- = \{x \in \Omega \colon x_2 < 0\}$  as a symmetric field:

$$\mathbf{B}(x,\delta) = \begin{cases} \left(B_{+,1}(x_1, x_2, \delta), B_{+,2}(x_1, x_2, \delta)\right), & x \in \Omega_+, \\ \left(B_{+,1}(x_1, -x_2, \delta), -B_{+,2}(x_1, -x_2, \delta)\right), & x \in \Omega_-. \end{cases}$$
(2.33)

Clearly, div  $\mathbf{B} = 0$ ,

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = -\int_{\Gamma_1} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = F, \tag{2.34}$$

and **B** satisfies (2.31).

Let us now complete the proof of Lemma 2.3. We define a vector field  $\hat{\mathbf{a}}$  on the boundary of  $\Omega$ :

$$\widehat{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{a} - \mathbf{B}\big|_{\partial\Omega}.$$

By (2.34) the flux of the field  $\hat{\mathbf{a}}$  across each connected component of the boundary of  $\Omega$  is zero, so we can find a divergence-free extension  $\hat{\mathbf{B}} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  of  $\hat{\mathbf{a}}$  to  $\Omega$  such that Hopf's inequality holds:

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \widehat{\mathbf{B}} \cdot (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \, dx \right| \leq \varepsilon \| \nabla \mathbf{u} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{u} \in H(\Omega).$$
(2.35)

Furthermore, by construction the connected components of the support of  $\widehat{\mathbf{B}}$  lie in arbitrarily narrow strips adjoining the surfaces  $\Gamma_i$ , i = 0, 1 (see § 2.1). However,  $\widehat{\mathbf{B}}$  is not necessarily symmetric. We symmetrize it by introducing another vector field  $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}$  with components

$$\widetilde{B}_1(x,\delta) = \frac{1}{2} \big( \widehat{B}_1(x_1, x_2, \delta) + \widehat{B}_1(x_1, -x_2, \delta) \big),\\ \widetilde{B}_2(x,\delta) = \frac{1}{2} \big( \widehat{B}_2(x_1, x_2, \delta) - \widehat{B}_2(x_1, -x_2, \delta) \big).$$

Obviously,  $\mathbf{\hat{B}}$  inherits all the required properties of  $\mathbf{\hat{B}}$ .

Let  $\mathbf{A}$  be the vector field defined by

$$\mathbf{A}(x,\delta) = \mathbf{B}(x,\delta) + \mathbf{B}(x,\delta).$$

By construction  $\mathbf{A}(x,\delta)|_{\partial\Omega} = \mathbf{a}$ , and **A** has all the properties in Lemma 2.3.

Using Hopf's inequality (2.22) for symmetric functions, we arrive at the a priori bound  $\|\nabla \mathbf{w}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq C$  with a positive constant C depending on  $\nu$  and  $\|\mathbf{a}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)}$ . Hence, the flux problem (1.1)–(1.3) is solvable in the class of symmetric generalized solutions. Fujita [14] also proved that the pressure p can be recovered from the  $\mathbf{w}$ obtained, and p (which is defined up to an additive constant) is an even function of  $x_2$ .

Another way of proving that a symmetric planar flux problem is solvable was proposed by Morimoto [16]. It is based on the use of the stream function  $\psi(x_1, x_2)$ of the planar flow, which is determined by the equations

$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x_2} = u_1, \qquad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x_1} = -u_2.$$
 (2.36)

We note that when (1.6) fails to hold, the stream function determined by a given divergence-free velocity vector field  $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, u_2)$  is multivalued. However, if the domain  $\Omega_+ = \{x \in \Omega : x_2 > 0\}$  has a connected boundary, then the stream function can be recovered from (2.36) uniquely up to an additive constant.

As for classical solutions, the methods developed in [2] enable one to prove their existence, provided that the problem data belong to Hölder classes:  $\partial \Omega \in C^{2+\alpha}$ ,  $\mathbf{a} \in C^{2+\alpha}(\partial \Omega)$ . In that case  $\mathbf{u} \in C^{2+\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $\nabla p \in C^{\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ , with  $0 < \alpha < 1$ .

**2.4. Local results.** The above results on solvability of the flux problem were proved either under the assumption that all the fluxes  $F_i$  across the connected components  $\Gamma_i$  of  $\partial\Omega$  are zero (the condition (1.6)) or under the assumption that the domain is symmetric. The first steps in the analysis of (1.1)–(1.3) without the assumption (1.6) were made in 1961 by Fujita [7] and Finn [8]. Fujita proved the solvability of (1.1)–(1.3) for small fluxes  $|F_i|$ . Finn [8] looked at a generalization of the flow problem. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded domain with connected

boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . The classical statement of the flow problem for the Navier–Stokes equations [34] asks about a solution **u**, *p* of the system (1.1), (1.2) in  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Omega$  satisfying the conditions

$$\mathbf{u} = 0, \qquad x \in \partial\Omega, \tag{2.37}$$

$$\mathbf{u} \to \mathbf{u}_{\infty}, \qquad x \to \infty,$$
 (2.38)

where  $\mathbf{u}_{\infty}$  is a given non-zero constant vector. The solvability of the flow problem without the assumption that the data are small was first established by Leray [1]. Subsequently, the problem was investigated by many authors (see [28]). Finn's generalization consisted in replacing the homogeneous condition (2.37) by the general condition (1.3). Let F be the flux of the velocity across of the surface  $\partial\Omega$ . It was proved in [8] that the problem (1.1)–(1.3), (2.38) has a solution if  $|F| < c_*\nu$ , where  $c_* > 0$  is sufficiently small.

We now return to the case of a bounded domain  $\Omega$  of the form (1.4). For small fluxes the problem (1.1)–(1.3) has been investigated by many authors (for instance, [9], [11]–[13]). In particular, Borchers and Pileckas [11] studied the flux problem in the domain  $\Omega$  between concentric spheres (or circles for n = 2) with radii  $R_1$  and  $R_2 > R_1$ . They found effective bounds for the range of values of the velocity flux F for which this problem is solvable. Other versions of effective bounds for the values of the fluxes of the velocity vector across the boundary components were proposed in [12] and [13].

We give a simple proof of the solvability of (1.1)-(1.3) for small fluxes, based on deriving an a priori bound by a contradiction argument (see [13]). Let  $\chi_i$  be the solution of the following Dirichlet problem for the Laplace operator in the exterior domain:

$$\Delta \chi_i = 0, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Omega_i,$$
  

$$\chi_i = 1, \qquad x \in \Gamma_i,$$
  

$$\chi_i(x) \to 0, \qquad |x| \to \infty.$$

The maximum principle gives us that  $0 \leq \chi_i(x) \leq 1$  for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Omega_i$ . By the harmonic capacity of the compact set  $\Omega_i$  we mean the quantity

$$\operatorname{cap}(\Omega_i) = \int_{\Gamma_i} \frac{\partial \chi_i}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \, dS = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega_i} |\nabla \chi_i(x)|^2 \, dx.$$

**Theorem 2.2.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded domain of the form (1.4) with Lipschitz boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . If  $\mathbf{f} \in L^2(\Omega)$ , the boundary values  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$  satisfy (1.5), and

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} \frac{|F_i|}{\operatorname{cap}(\Omega_i)} < \nu, \tag{2.39}$$

then the problem (1.1)–(1.3) has at least one generalized solution  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* We have already mentioned that to prove the solvability of (1.1)-(1.3) it is sufficient to have an a priori bound for a solution. In § 2.2 we showed that if there

is no such bound, then there exists a pair  $(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p}) \in H(\Omega) \times W^{1,s}(\Omega)$  with  $s \in [1, 3/2]$  that satisfies the Euler system

$$\begin{cases} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} + \nabla \widehat{p} = 0, & x \in \Omega, \\ \operatorname{div} \widehat{\mathbf{w}} = 0, & x \in \Omega, \\ \widehat{\mathbf{w}} = 0, & x \in \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.40)

Furthermore,  $\|\nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq 1$  and we have

$$\nu = \lambda_0 \int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx, \qquad \lambda_0 \in (0, 1], \tag{2.41}$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx = -\sum_{i=0}^{N} \widehat{p}_i F_i, \qquad (2.42)$$

where

$$\left. \widehat{p}(x) \right|_{\Gamma_i} = \widehat{p}_i, \quad \widehat{p}_i \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad i = 0, 1, \dots, N.$$

Taking the inner product of (2.40) with  $\nabla \chi_i$ , we integrate over  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Omega_i$ , assuming that  $\hat{\mathbf{w}}$  is extended by zero to  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Omega$ , and we set  $\hat{p}(x)|_{\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Omega_0} = \hat{p}_0$  and  $\hat{p}(x)|_{\Omega_i} = \hat{p}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ . Since  $\operatorname{cap}(\Omega_i)$  is positive, integration by parts gives us that

$$\begin{aligned} |\widehat{p}_i| \operatorname{cap}(\Omega_i) &= |\widehat{p}_i \operatorname{cap}(\Omega_i)| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega_i} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla \chi_i \, dx \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega_i} \nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \chi_i \, dx \right| \leqslant \| \nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = 1. \end{aligned}$$

Using (2.42) and (2.39), we deduce the inequality

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} (\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla) \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \mathbf{A} \, dx \right| = \left| \sum_{i=0}^{N} \widehat{p}_i F_i \right| \leq \sum_{i=0}^{N} \frac{|F_i|}{\operatorname{cap}(\Omega_i)} < \nu,$$

which contradicts (2.41). This contradiction shows that at least one solution of (1.1)–(1.3) must exist.  $\Box$ 

**2.5. Flows close to potential flows.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , n = 2, 3, be a bounded domain of the form (1.4). It is well known that the system (1.1), (1.2) with a potential field of the external forces **f** has a family of solutions in which the velocity field is a potential field, that is,  $\mathbf{u} = \nabla \varphi$  for some harmonic function  $\varphi$ , and the pressure can be found from the Bernoulli integral:  $p + |\nabla \varphi|^2/2 = \text{const.}$  Taking  $\varphi$  to be a linear combination of fundamental solutions of the Laplace equation with singularities in  $\Omega_i$ , we obtain a class of exact solutions of the flux problem for the Navier–Stokes equations with certain special boundary conditions.

Fujita and Morimoto [35] investigated the problem (1.1)-(1.3) in a three- or two-dimensional domain  $\Omega$  with two smooth boundary components  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_1$ . With the boundary conditions in the form

$$\mathbf{u} = \mu \nabla \varphi + \widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_i, \qquad x \in \Gamma_i, \quad i = 0, 1, \tag{2.43}$$

where  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varphi$  is a fundamental solution of the Laplace equation, and the functions  $\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_i$  satisfy (1.6), they showed the existence of a countable set  $M \in \mathbb{R}$  such that if  $\mu \notin M$  and the corresponding norms of the functions  $\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_i$  are small, then (1.1)–(1.3) is solvable. Moreover, if  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is a circular annulus, then M is empty.

Russo and Starita [36] relaxed the smoothness conditions imposed on the surfaces (curves)  $\Gamma_i$  and the functions  $\tilde{\mathbf{a}}_i$ . In particular, they proved the following theorem [35].

**Theorem 2.3.** Let  $\mathbf{f} = 0$ , assume that the boundary values  $\mathbf{a}$  have a representation (2.43), where  $\varphi$  is a fundamental solution of the Laplace equation, and that the functions  $\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_i \in W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma_i)$  satisfy

$$\int_{\Gamma_i} \widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_i \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = 0, \qquad i = 0, 1.$$

Then there exists a discrete countable set  $M \subset \mathbb{R}$  and a positive constant  $\varepsilon_*$  such that for any  $\mu \in \mathbb{R} \setminus M$  the problem (1.1)–(1.3) has at least one generalized solution  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  if

$$\|\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_{0}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma_{0})} + \|\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_{1}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma_{1})} \leqslant \varepsilon_{*}.$$
(2.44)

*Proof.* This theorem has a rather simple yet beautiful proof, so we present the main points of the proof, without giving details. We seek a solution  $\mathbf{u}$  in the form of a sum  $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{w} + \mu \nabla \varphi + \mathbf{A}$ , where  $\mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{A}$  satisfies the boundary condition  $\mathbf{A}|_{\Gamma_i} = \tilde{\mathbf{a}}_i$  for i = 0, 1 and is a generalized solution of the homogeneous linear Stokes problem, that is,  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  satisfies the integral identity

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx = 0 \qquad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega)$$

and the inequality

$$|\nabla \mathbf{A}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq c \left( \|\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_{0}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma_{0})} + \|\widetilde{\mathbf{a}}_{1}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma_{1})} \right)$$

(see, for instance, [2]).

We find the vector field  $\mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega)$  using the integral identity

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx + \mu \int_{\Omega} \left( (\nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} + (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \nabla \varphi \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \left( (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} + (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{A} \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx = -\mu \int_{\Omega} \left( (\nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{A} + (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \nabla \varphi \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx - \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{A} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx, \qquad (2.45)$$

which holds for all  $\eta \in H(\Omega)$ . Here we have used the fact that the gradient of the harmonic function  $\varphi$  and the corresponding pressure (found from the Bernoulli integral) satisfy the Navier–Stokes system.

We claim that the integral identity (2.45) is equivalent to an operator equation. For each  $\mathbf{b} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  satisfying div  $\mathbf{b} = 0$  we define a linear operator  $L(\mathbf{b})$  from  $H(\Omega)$  to  $H(\Omega)^*$  by

$$\langle L(\mathbf{b})\mathbf{w}, \boldsymbol{\eta} \rangle = \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{w} + (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{b} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{w}, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega).$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the pairing of  $H(\Omega)$  and  $H(\Omega)^*$ . Using standard embedding theorems, we can show that  $L(\mathbf{b})$  is a compact operator.

Next we introduce the operator G which associates with any  $\mathbf{F} \in H(\Omega)^*$  the generalized solution  $\mathbf{v} \in H(\Omega)$  of the Stokes system:

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx = \langle \mathbf{F}, \boldsymbol{\eta} \rangle \qquad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega).$$

It is well known that G is a bounded linear operator (see, for instance, [2]).

Using the operators G,  $L(\nabla \varphi)$ , and  $L(\mathbf{A})$ , we can write the integral identity (2.45) as an operator equation in  $H(\Omega)$ :

$$\mathbf{w} + \frac{\mu}{\nu}GL(\nabla\varphi)\mathbf{w} = -\frac{1}{\nu}GL(\mathbf{A})\mathbf{w} - \frac{1}{\nu}G(\mathbf{w}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{w} + G\Phi, \qquad (2.46)$$

where

$$\Phi = -\frac{\mu}{\nu} L(\nabla \varphi) \mathbf{A} - \frac{1}{\nu} (\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{A}.$$

Since  $K = -(1/\nu)GL(\nabla\varphi)$  is a compact operator on  $H(\Omega)$ , its spectrum  $\sigma(K) := M$ is a discrete countable set which can have the limit point  $\lambda = 0$ . If  $1/\mu \notin M$ , then there exists a bounded inverse  $(I - \mu K)^{-1}$ , and we can rewrite (2.46) in the form

$$\mathbf{w} = -\frac{1}{\nu}(I - \mu K)^{-1} \left( -\frac{1}{\nu} GL(\mathbf{A})\mathbf{w} - \frac{1}{\nu} G(\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{w} + G\Phi \right) =: \mathfrak{A}\mathbf{w}.$$
 (2.47)

For a sufficiently small  $\varepsilon_*$  the condition (2.44) means that the operator  $\mathfrak{A}$  takes some ball in the space into itself and is contracting on this ball. Hence, equation (2.47) has a solution.  $\Box$ 

**2.6. The flux problem in a circular annulus.** The cycle of papers [37]–[40] is an investigation of flows in a circular annulus  $\Omega = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : R_1 < |x| < R_0\}$ . Morimoto [37], [38] looked at this problem in the case when the values  $\mathbf{a}_i$  of the velocity vector field on the boundary components have the form

$$\mathbf{a}_{i} = \mu R_{i}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_{r} + b_{i} \mathbf{e}_{\theta}, \qquad x \in \Gamma_{i} = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \colon |x| = R_{i} \}, \quad i = 0, 1,$$
 (2.48)

where  $\mathbf{e}_r$  and  $\mathbf{e}_{\theta}$  are the unit vectors in the polar coordinate system  $(r, \theta)$  and  $\mu$ ,  $b_0$ , and  $b_1$  are constants. The problem (1.1)–(1.3), (2.48) has an exact solution  $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}(r)$ , p = p(r), which can be described by explicit formulae. If  $\mu = 0$ , then it becomes the well-known Couette solution [34]. It was proved in [38] that if  $|\mu|$  and  $|b_1 - b_0|$  are sufficiently small and  $\mu \neq -2\nu$ , then this exact solution of (1.1)–(1.3), (2.48) is unique. Uniqueness also holds for  $\mu = -2\nu$  if  $|\mu|$ ,  $|b_0|$ , and  $|b_1|$  are sufficiently small. Moreover, if the viscosity  $\nu$  is sufficiently large, then the solution of (1.1)–(1.3), (2.48) is exponentially stable.

Now we look at a flow in an annulus with boundary conditions of the more general form

$$\mathbf{a}_{i} = [\mu R_{i}^{-1} + \varphi_{i}(\theta)]\mathbf{e}_{r} + [\omega_{i}R_{i} + \psi_{i}(\theta)]\mathbf{e}_{\theta},$$
  

$$x \in \Gamma_{i} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \colon |x| = R_{i}\}, \qquad i = 0, 1,$$
(2.49)

where the  $\varphi_i$  and  $\psi_i$  are  $2\pi$ -periodic functions in  $W^{1/2,2}(\mathbb{R})$ . The problem (1.1)–(1.3), (2.49) was considered by Morimoto and Ukai [39]. Their main result was as follows.

Theorem 2.4. Assume that

$$|\omega_1 - \omega_0| \frac{R_0^2 R_1^2}{R_1^2 - R_0^2} \left( \log \frac{R_1}{R_0} \right)^2 < 2\nu.$$
(2.50)

Then there exists a finite or countable set M such that for any  $\mu \in \mathbb{R} \setminus M$  the problem (1.1)–(1.3), (2.49) is solvable for sufficiently small  $\varphi_i$  and  $\psi_i$  (i = 0, 1).

Note that under the assumptions of this theorem the value of  $|\mu|$  can be arbitrarily large in comparison with  $\nu$ . It could be interesting to single out a class of conditions (2.49) for which M is an empty set. Fujita, Morimoto, and Okamoto [40] showed that it is empty for  $\omega_1 = \omega_0$ . In this case (2.50) automatically holds. The special case when  $b_1 = b_0 = 0$  in (2.48) corresponds to a purely radial flow with the velocity field  $u_r = \mu r^{-1}$ ,  $u_{\theta} = 0$ . As shown in [40], the radial flow in a circular annulus is isolated in the class of steady-state solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations, whatever the Reynolds number  $\mu/\nu$  and the ratio  $R_0/R_1$  of the radii are. (We remark that it is only for small values of  $\mu/\nu$  that we can prove uniqueness of the radial solution of the flow problem in an annulus.) If  $b_1R_1 = b_0R_0$ , then (1.1)-(1.3), (2.48) has the self-similar solution  $u_r = \mu r^{-1}$ ,  $u_{\theta} = \lambda r^{-1}$ , where  $\lambda = b_0R_0$ . A numerical analysis of the problem of non-stationary perturbations of the self-similar solution showed [40] that when the Reynolds number attains a certain critical value, which depends on the ratios  $\lambda/\nu$  and  $R_0/R_1$ , a time-periodic solution splits off, that is, a Hopf bifurcation occurs.

**2.7.** Axially symmetric problems. The planar symmetric problem considered in [10], [14], [16], [17] has an axially symmetric analogue [15]. In what follows we let

$$r = (x_1^2 + x_2^2)^{1/2}, \quad \theta = \arctan \frac{x_2}{x_1}, \quad z = x_3$$

denote the cylindrical coordinates, and  $u_r$ ,  $u_{\theta}$ ,  $u_z$  the projections of the velocity vector **u** on the *r*-,  $\theta$ -, and *z*-axes. In the cylindrical coordinates the equations of a stationary motion of a viscous incompressible fluid have the following form (see [34]):

$$\begin{split} u_r \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial r} &+ \frac{u_\theta}{r} \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial \theta} + u_z \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial z} - \frac{u_\theta^2}{r} \\ &= -\frac{\partial p}{\partial r} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 u_r}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2 u_r}{\partial \theta^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u_r}{\partial z^2} - \frac{2}{r^2} \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial \theta} - \frac{u_r}{r^2} \right), \\ u_r \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial r} &+ \frac{u_\theta}{r} \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial \theta} + u_z \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial z} + \frac{u_r u_\theta}{r} \\ &= -\frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial p}{\partial r} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 u_\theta}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2 u_\theta}{\partial \theta^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u_\theta}{\partial z^2} + \frac{2}{r^2} \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial \theta} - \frac{u_\theta}{r^2} \right), \\ u_r \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial r} &+ \frac{u_\theta}{r} \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial \theta} + u_z \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial z} = -\frac{\partial p}{\partial z} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 u_z}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2 u_z}{\partial \theta^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u_z}{\partial z^2} \right), \\ \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial (rv_r)}{\partial r} &+ \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial u_\theta}{\partial \theta} + \frac{\partial v_z}{\partial z} = 0. \end{split}$$

$$(2.51)$$

A motion is said to be axially symmetric without swirl if  $u_{\theta} = 0$  and the functions  $u_r$ ,  $u_z$ , and p are independent of  $\theta$ . Under these assumptions (2.51) becomes the following system:

$$u_{r}\frac{\partial u_{r}}{\partial r} + u_{z}\frac{\partial u_{r}}{\partial z} = -\frac{\partial p}{\partial r} + \nu \left(\frac{\partial^{2}u_{r}}{\partial r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial u_{r}}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^{2}u_{r}}{\partial z^{2}} - \frac{u_{r}}{r^{2}}\right),$$

$$u_{r}\frac{\partial u_{z}}{\partial r} + u_{z}\frac{\partial u_{z}}{\partial z} = -\frac{\partial p}{\partial z} + \nu \left(\frac{\partial^{2}u_{z}}{\partial r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial u_{z}}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^{2}u_{z}}{\partial z^{2}}\right),$$

$$\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial(rv_{r})}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial v_{z}}{\partial z} = 0.$$
(2.52)

**Definition 2.3.** A bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  is said to be *admissible* if the following conditions hold:

(a)  $\partial \Omega \in C^{\infty}$ ;

(b)  $\partial \Omega$  consists of  $N + 1 \ge 2$  connected components  $\Gamma_i$ ;

- (c)  $\Omega$  has the axis of symmetry r = 0 and the plane of symmetry z = 0;
- (d) each  $\Gamma_i$  intersects the plane z = 0.

A function  $\mathbf{h} = (h_r, h_\theta, h_z)$  from  $\Omega$  or  $\partial\Omega$  to  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is said to be axially symmetric without swirl if  $h_\theta = 0$ , while  $h_r$  and  $h_z$  are independent of  $\theta$ . A function  $\mathbf{h} = (h_r, h_\theta, h_z)$  from  $\Omega$  or  $\partial\Omega$  to  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is said to be symmetric relative to the plane z = 0if  $h_r$  and  $h_\theta$  are even functions of z, while  $h_z$  is an odd function of z.

**Definition 2.4.** A vector **a** is said to be *admissible* if the following conditions are satisfied:

(a)  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{1/2,2}(\partial \Omega);$ 

(b) **a** is axially symmetric without swirl and symmetric relative to the plane z = 0.

**Theorem 2.5.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be an admissible domain and  $\mathbf{a}$  an admissible vector in the sense of Definitions 2.3 and 2.4. Then for any  $\nu > 0$  the problem (1.1)–(1.3) has a generalized solution  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . The velocity vector  $\mathbf{u}$  is axially symmetric without swirl and symmetric relative to the plane z = 0. Furthermore,  $\|\mathbf{u}\|_{W^{1,2}(\Omega)} \leq C$  with a positive constant C depending on  $\nu$  and  $\|\mathbf{a}\|_{W^{1/2,2}(\partial\Omega)}$ .

The proof of Theorem 2.4 was given in [15]. It is based on the construction of an axially symmetric analogue of a virtual drain.

Along with the boundary-value problem (1.1)-(1.3), the statement of the problem in 'vorticity-stream function' terms is used extensively in the axially symmetric case (see, for instance, [41] and the references there). The stream function  $\psi$  of an axially symmetric flow and the vorticity  $\omega$  of the flow are introduced by the equalities

$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial r} = -ru_z, \qquad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial z} = ru_r, \qquad \omega = \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial r} - \frac{\partial u_r}{\partial z}.$$
 (2.53)

It is often more convenient to work with the reduced vorticity  $\lambda = r^{-1}\omega$ . In these terms the equations of a steady axially symmetric flow of a viscous incompressible fluid have the form

$$E\psi = -r^2\lambda, \qquad \mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla\lambda = \nu L\lambda,$$
(2.54)

where  $\mathbf{u} = (u_r, u_z), \nabla = (\partial_r, \partial_z)$ , and E and L are linear elliptic operators defined by

$$E = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r^2} - \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}, \qquad L = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r^2} + \frac{3}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}.$$

The elliptic system (2.54) has a much simpler structure than the original system (2.52), and moreover, it contains fewer unknown functions. Therefore, the variables  $\psi$ ,  $\omega$  have turned out to be very convenient for the numerical solution of axially symmetric problems. So far no author has investigated the flux problem for this system. In [42] such a problem was considered in an axially symmetric domain Q of the spherical layer type.

Let  $S_1$  and  $S_0$  denote the outer and inner boundary components of Q. For simplicity assume that  $S_1, S_0 \in C^{\infty}$ . The meridional section of Q will be denoted by  $\Omega$ . It has the form of a horseshoe, with boundary formed by two arcs  $\Sigma_1$  and  $\Sigma_0$ that are the meridional sections of  $S_1$  and  $S_0$ , respectively, and two intervals  $\Lambda_1$ and  $\Lambda_0$  of the z-axis (see Fig. 3).



Figure 3. The meridional section of the flow region Q

For the system (2.54) we impose the boundary conditions

$$\psi = a_i(s), \quad \lambda = b_i(s), \quad (r, z) \in \Sigma_i, \quad i = 0, 1,$$
(2.55)

corresponding to the values of the normal component of the velocity and the vorticity given on the boundary of the domain. For a parameter s on the curve  $\Sigma_i$  it is convenient to take the arc length measured from the left-hand endpoint of the interval  $\Lambda_i$  of the z-axis (i = 0, 1).

If the function  $a_i$  takes equal values at the endpoints of  $\Sigma_i$  (which we denote by  $z_{il}$  and  $z_{ir}$ ), then (1.6) is satisfied: the flux of the fluid across each surface  $S_i$  (i = 0, 1) is equal to zero. Then we can prove the solvability of the problem (2.54), (2.55) for sufficiently smooth input data using standard arguments. We are interested in the case when this condition is violated:

$$a_1(l_1) - a_1(0) = a_0(l_0) - a_0(0) \neq 0.$$

Here  $l_i$  denotes the length of  $\Sigma_i$ . The coinciding quantities in the last relation are equal to  $(2\pi)^{-1}F$ , where F is the flux across  $S_1$ . It was proved in [42] that the problem (2.54), (2.55) is solvable without constraints on the magnitude of |F|.

Note that for a fixed velocity field the stream function is determined up to an additive constant. Making the natural assumption that  $u_r \to 0$  as  $r \to 0$ , we

conclude that the intervals  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_0$  of the z-axis are streamlines. Without loss of generality we can set  $\psi = 0$  on  $\Lambda_1$  (that is,  $a_1(0) = a_0(0) = 0$ ). Then  $\psi$  takes the value  $a_1(l_1) = a_0(l_0) = (2\pi)^{-1}F$  on  $\Lambda_0$ .

Let us transform the problem (2.54), (2.55) into a problem with homogeneous boundary conditions. To do this we construct a function  $\chi$  as a solution of the following boundary-value problem:

$$E\chi = 0, (r, z) \in \Omega; 
\chi = a_i(s), (r, z) \in \Sigma_i, i = 0, 1; 
\chi = 0, (r, z) \in \Lambda_1; 
\chi = (2\pi)^{-1}q, (r, z) \in \Lambda_0.$$
(2.56)

For simplicity assume that  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  (i = 0, 1) are functions in the Hölder classes  $C^{2+\alpha}([0, l_i]), 0 < \alpha < 1$ . Also assume that, as  $s \to 0$ ,

$$a_{1} = a_{21}s^{2} + O(s^{2+\alpha}), \qquad a_{0} = (2\pi)^{-1}q + a_{20}s^{2} + O(s^{2+\alpha}), b_{i} = b_{1i} + b_{2i}s^{2} + O(s^{2+\alpha}), \qquad i = 0, 1.$$
(2.57)

Under these assumptions the problem (2.56) has a classical solution, which is moreover unique and satisfies the estimates

$$\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial r} = O(r), \quad \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial z} = O(r), \qquad (r,z)\in\overline{\Omega}, \quad r\to 0.$$
(2.58)

The function  $\chi$  extends the boundary values of the stream function inside  $\Omega$ . To extend the boundary values of the reduced vorticity, we introduce local curvilinear orthogonal coordinates s and n associated with the curves  $\Sigma_1$  and  $\Sigma_0$ . We have already introduced the s-variable, and as n we take the distance from a point  $(r, z) \in \Delta_i \subset \overline{\Omega}$  to the curve  $\Sigma_i$  (i = 0, 1). Here  $\Delta_i$  is a curved strip of width  $\delta$ which adjoins  $\Sigma_i$ . We take  $\delta$  small enough so that the point on  $\Sigma_i$  which is closest to (r, z) is well defined. Such curvilinear (von Mises) variables are well known in boundary layer theory [34]. Next we define a function  $\vartheta(x)$  by

$$\vartheta = b_i(s)\xi(n,\varepsilon), \qquad (r,z) \in \overline{\Delta}_i, \quad i = 0, 1, \\ \vartheta = 0, \qquad (r,z) \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus \overline{\Delta}_1 \cup \overline{\Delta}_2, \qquad (2.59)$$

where  $\xi(n,\varepsilon)$  is the Hopf cutoff function. From (2.56) and the properties of the Hopf function we conclude that:

$$\vartheta \in C^{2+\alpha}(\overline{\Omega}); \quad \vartheta = b_i(s), \quad (r, z) \in \Sigma_i; \\ \left| \frac{\partial \vartheta}{\partial n} \right| \leqslant \frac{c\varepsilon}{n}; \quad \frac{\partial \vartheta}{\partial r} = 0, \quad (r, z) \in \Lambda_i;$$
 (2.60)

here  $\varepsilon > 0$  can be arbitrarily small.

In the problem (2.54), (2.55) we go over to the new unknown functions

$$\phi = \psi - \chi, \qquad \mu = \lambda - \vartheta.$$

The functions  $\phi$  and  $\mu$  form a solution of the following boundary-value problem:

$$\begin{cases} E\phi = -r^{2}(\mu + \vartheta), & (r, z) \in \Omega, \\ \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \mu + \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla \mu + \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \vartheta + \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla \vartheta = \nu L\mu + \nu L\vartheta, & (r, z) \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$

$$\phi = 0 \qquad (r, z) \in \partial \Omega; \quad \mu = 0 \qquad (r, z) \in \Sigma; \quad \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial \mu} = 0 \qquad (r, z) \in \Lambda; \quad i = 0, 1 \end{cases}$$
(2.61)

$$\phi = 0, \quad (r, z) \in \partial\Omega; \quad \mu = 0, \quad (r, z) \in \Sigma_i; \quad \frac{\partial\mu}{\partial r} = 0, \quad (r, z) \in \Lambda_i; \quad i = 0, 1.$$
(2.62)

Here we have set

$$\mathbf{U} = \left(-\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial z}, \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial r}\right), \qquad \mathbf{W} = \left(-\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial z}, \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial r}\right).$$

By (2.55), (2.56), and (2.62) the vector-valued functions **U** and **W** satisfy the conditions

$$\mathbf{U} \cdot \mathbf{n}_i = 0, \quad \mathbf{W} \cdot \mathbf{n}_i = 0, \qquad (r, z) \in \Sigma_i \quad (i = 0, 1), \\ \mathbf{U} \cdot \mathbf{n}_0 = 0, \quad \mathbf{W} \cdot \mathbf{n}_0 = 0, \qquad (r, z) \in \Lambda_i \quad (i = 0, 1),$$
(2.63)

where the  $\mathbf{n}_i$  denote the outward unit normals to the curves  $\Sigma_i$ , i = 0, 1 (relative to  $\Omega$ ), and  $\mathbf{n}_0 = (-1, 0)$  is the normal to the straight parts  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_0$  of the boundary of  $\Omega$ .

The equations of the system (2.61) are degenerate on the line r = 0, and we require weighted function classes for investigating the solutions of it. Let  $\Omega_{-}$  be the domain in the (r,z)-plane obtained by reflecting  $\Omega \equiv \Omega_{+}$  in the z-axis, and let

$$\Omega_* = \Omega_+ \cup \Omega_- \cup \Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_0.$$

Now let  $H^{l}(\Omega; r)$  denote the closure of the set of functions  $\varphi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega_{*})$  in the norm of the Sobolev space of functions having in the domain  $\Omega^{*}$  derivatives of order up to l that are square-integrable with weight r over this domain. The subspaces of even and odd functions  $\varphi \in H^{l}(\Omega; r)$  will be denoted by  $H^{l}_{e}(\Omega; r)$  and  $H^{l}_{o}(\Omega; r)$ , respectively. The space  $L^{2}(\Omega; r)$  coincides with  $H^{0}(\Omega; r)$ . The spaces  $L^{2}_{e}(\Omega; r)$ and  $L^{2}_{o}(\Omega; r)$  are defined similarly.

Then we have the following results.

**Lemma 2.4.** Suppose that  $\rho \in L^2_e(\Omega; r)$ ,  $\partial \rho / \partial r \in L^2_o(\Omega; r)$ , and  $\partial \rho / \partial z \in L^2_e(\Omega; r)$ . Then the problem

$$E\phi = -r^2\rho \quad for \ (r,z) \in \Omega, \quad \phi = 0 \quad for \ (r,z) \in \partial\Omega$$
 (2.64)

has a unique solution  $\phi \in H^3_{e}(\Omega; r)$  with  $r^{-1}\partial \phi/\partial r \in H^2_{e}(\Omega; r)$ , and the following estimates hold:

$$\left\| \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial r} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega;r)} \leqslant c \|\rho\|_{L^{2}(\Omega;r)}, \qquad \left\| \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial z} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega;r)} \leqslant c \|\rho\|_{L^{2}(\Omega;r)},$$

$$\left| \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial r} \right\|_{H^{2}(\Omega;r)} \leqslant c \|\rho\|_{H^{1}(\Omega;r)}, \qquad \|\phi\|_{H^{3}(\Omega;r)} \leqslant c \|\rho\|_{H^{1}(\Omega;r)}.$$

$$(2.65)$$

**Lemma 2.5.** Let  $a_i, b_i \in C^{2+\alpha}([0, l_i]), 0 < \alpha < 1, i = 0, 1, and assume the conditions (2.57). Then a generalized solution <math>\phi, \mu$  of the problem (2.61), (2.62) has the estimate

$$\|\phi\|_{H^{3}(\Omega;r)} + \|\mu\|_{H^{1}(\Omega;r)} \leqslant C \tag{2.66}$$

with a constant  $C = C(\nu, F, \Omega, a_i, b_i) > 0$ .

The following theorem was established in [42] by using the a priori bounds in Lemmas 2.4 and 2.5.

**Theorem 2.6.** If the conditions of Lemma 2.4 hold, then the problem (2.61), (2.62) has a solution  $\phi \in H^3_e(\Omega; r)$ ,  $\mu \in H^1_e(\Omega; r)$ .

We do not give the proof here; it follows the classical scheme as presented in [2].

In conclusion we note that we can replace the smoothness condition  $\partial \Omega \in C^{\infty}$  of the boundary of the flow region by the condition  $\partial \Omega \in C^{2+\alpha}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ . Theorem 2.6 ensures that the problem (2.61), (2.62) will have at least one generalized solution. However, the smoothness and matching conditions imposed above on the functions  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  (i = 0, 1) enable us to prove that in fact this solution is a classical solution.

For simplicity we confined ourselves above to the case when the boundary of an axially symmetric flow region has two connected components. However, the line of argument will be the same if the boundary consists of arbitrarily many connected components: it is only important that each of these surfaces of revolution intersect the rotation axis in two points. No restrictions are imposed on the fluxes across the boundary components.

Now we consider the Galerkin approximations to the solution of (2.61), (2.62). They also have an a priori bound similar to (2.66), so we can justify the convergence of the Galerkin method to the solution of the axially symmetric flux problem in the 'vorticity-stream function' variables.

#### 3. An existence theorem in the general planar case

In this section we look at the boundary-value problem for the Navier–Stokes system of equations (1.1)–(1.3) in a bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $C^2$ -smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega = \bigcup_{j=0}^N \Gamma_j$  consisting of N + 1 disjoint connected components  $\Gamma_j$ , that is,

$$\Omega = \Omega_0 \setminus \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^N \overline{\Omega}_j\right), \qquad \overline{\Omega}_j \subset \Omega_0, \quad j = 1, \dots, N,$$
(3.1)

where  $\Gamma_j = \partial \Omega_j$ . We assume that  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial \Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{f} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . Without loss of generality we can also assume that  $\mathbf{f} = \nabla^{\perp} b$  with  $b \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , where  $(x, y)^{\perp} = (-y, x)^2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>According to the Helmholtz–Weyl decomposition, each vector-valued function  $\mathbf{f} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ on a bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$ -boundary, n = 2, 3, can be represented as a sum  $\mathbf{f} = \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{b} + \nabla \varphi$  for n = 3 or  $\mathbf{f} = \nabla^{\perp} \mathbf{b} + \nabla \varphi$  for n = 2, where  $\mathbf{b}, b, \varphi \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , and the gradient component can be included in the term containing the pressure (see, for instance, [2]).

## 3.1. Auxiliary results.

3.1.1. Analogues of the Morse–Sard theorem and the Luzin N-property for Sobolev functions in  $W^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . We start by recalling several classical differentiability properties of Sobolev functions. In treating Sobolev functions we shall always assume that we have chosen their 'best representatives'. For  $w \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  the best representative  $w^*$  is defined as follows:

$$w^*(x) = \begin{cases} \lim_{r \to 0} \int_{B_r(x)} w(z) \, dz & \text{if the limit exists and is finite} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where

$$\int_{B_r(x)} w(z) \, dz = \frac{1}{\operatorname{meas}(B_r(x))} \int_{B_r(x)} w(z) \, dz$$

and  $B_r(x) = \{y: |y-x| < r\}$  is a ball with radius r and centre x. It is well known that if  $w \in W^{1,q}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , then  $\mathfrak{H}^1$ -almost all points  $x \in \Omega$  are Lebesgue points of w, so that the above limits exist  $\mathfrak{H}^1$ -almost everywhere. Here and throughout we let  $\mathfrak{H}^1$  denote the one-dimensional Hausdorff measure:  $\mathfrak{H}^1(F) = \lim_{t\to 0+} \mathfrak{H}^1_t(F)$ , where

$$\mathfrak{H}^1_t(F) = \inf \bigg\{ \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{diam} F_i \colon \operatorname{diam} F_i \leqslant t, \ F \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} F_i \bigg\}.$$

**Lemma 3.1** (see [43], Proposition 1). If  $\psi \in W^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , then  $\psi$  is a continuous function, and there is a set  $A_{\psi} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  such that  $\mathfrak{H}^1(A_{\psi}) = 0$  and  $\psi$  is differentiable (in the classical sense) at all points  $x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A_{\psi}$ . Furthermore, its classical derivative coincides with the value of  $\nabla \psi(x)$ , and

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B_r(x)} |\nabla \psi(z) - \nabla \psi(x)|^2 \, dz = 0$$

(so that x is a Lebesgue point of  $\nabla \psi(\cdot)$ ).

The next result was obtained by Bourgain, Korobkov, and Kristensen [25] (see also [44] and [45] for several dimensions).

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary. If  $\psi \in W^{2,1}(\Omega)$ , then the following hold.

(i)  $\mathfrak{H}^1(\{\psi(x): x \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus A_\psi \& \nabla \psi(x) = 0\}) = 0.$ 

(ii) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mathfrak{H}^1(\psi(U)) < \varepsilon$  for each set  $U \subset \overline{\Omega}$  whenever  $\mathfrak{H}^1_{\infty}(U) < \delta$ .

(iii) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist an open set  $V \subset \mathbb{R}$  with  $\mathfrak{H}^1(V) < \varepsilon$  and a function  $g \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$  such that if  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\psi(x) \notin V$ , then  $x \notin A_{\psi}, \psi(x) = g(x)$ , and  $\nabla \psi(x) = \nabla g(x) \neq 0$ .

(iv) For  $\mathfrak{H}^1$ -almost all  $y \in \psi(\overline{\Omega}) \subset \mathbb{R}$  the inverse image  $\psi^{-1}(y)$  is the union of finitely many  $C^1$ -smooth curves  $S_j$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, N(y)$ . Each  $S_j$  is either a cycle in  $\Omega$  (so that  $S_j \subset \Omega$  is homeomorphic to the unit circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$ ) or a simple arc with endpoints on  $\partial\Omega$  (and then  $S_j$  is transversal to  $\partial\Omega$ ). 3.1.2. Some topological facts. We need several definitions and results from general topology. By a *continuum* we mean a compact connected set, where connectedness is treated in the usual sense of general topology. A subset of a topological space is called an *arc* if it is homeomorphic to the closed unit interval [0, 1].

We start by recalling several results from Kronrod's classical paper [46] on level sets of continuous functions. Let  $Q = [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$  be a square in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , f a continuous function on Q, and  $E_t = \{x \in Q : f(x) = t\}$  a level set of f. By the connected component K of  $E_t$  containing a point  $x_0$  we mean the maximal connected subset of  $E_t$  containing  $x_0$ . Let  $T_f$  be the set of connected components of level sets of f. We take this set in its natural topology, where a system of neighbourhoods is defined as follows. For a component  $C \in T_f$  and an open set  $U \supset C$  the set  $\{B \in T_f : B \subset U\}$ is called a neighbourhood of C. Accordingly, convergence in  $T_f$  is defined as follows:  $T_f \ni C_i \to C$  if and only if  $\sup_{x \in C_i} \operatorname{dist}(x, C) \to 0$ . It was proved in [46] that  $T_f$ is a one-dimensional topological tree. (A locally connected continuum T is called a topological tree if it contains no curve homeomorphic to a circle, or equivalently, if any two points in T can be joined by a unique arc.) Hence T has topological dimension 1. Endpoints of this tree<sup>3</sup> are points  $C \in T_f$  which do not separate Q, that is, the difference  $Q \setminus C$  is connected. The branch points of this tree are the components  $C \in T_f$  such that  $Q \setminus C$  has more than 2 connected components (see [46], Theorem 5). According to Lemma 1 in [46] (see also [47] and [48])  $T_f$  can have only countably many branch points. The main property of the tree is that any two points in it can be joined by a unique arc. Thus, we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.2** (see Lemma 13 in [46]). If  $f \in C(Q)$ , then for any pair of distinct elements  $A \in T_f$  and  $B \in T_f$  there is a unique arc  $J = J(A, B) \subset T_f$  joining Awith B. Moreover, for each interior point C of this arc A and B lie in different connected components of the set  $T_f \setminus \{C\}$ .

Remark 3.1. The assertion of Lemma 3.2 also holds for level sets of a continuous function  $f: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$ , where  $\Omega$  is a bounded multiply connected domain of type (3.1), provided that  $f \equiv \xi_j = \text{const}$  on each inner boundary component  $\Gamma_j, j = 1, \ldots, N$ . In fact, we can extend f to the whole of  $\overline{\Omega}_0$  by setting  $f(x) = \xi_j$  for  $x \in \overline{\Omega}_j$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, N$ . The extended function f is continuous on the set  $\overline{\Omega}_0$ , which is homeomorphic to the unit square  $Q = [0, 1]^2$ .

**3.2. Leray's argument by contradiction.** If (1.5) holds for the boundary values  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$ , then the boundary function  $\mathbf{a}$  has a divergence-free extension  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  (see, for instance, [2], [28]). Using this fact and some standard results [2], we can find a generalized solution  $\mathbf{U} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  of the linear Stokes problem such that

$$\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{A} \in H(\Omega) \cap W^{2,2}(\Omega)$$

and

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx \qquad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega). \tag{3.2}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A point in a continuum K is called an *endpoint* (a *branch point*) of K if it has topological index 1 (topological index at least 3, respectively). For a topological tree T this definition is equivalent to the following one:  $C \in T$  is an endpoint (a *branch point*) of T if  $T \setminus \{C\}$  is connected (if  $T \setminus \{C\}$  has three or more connected components, respectively).

Moreover,

$$\|\mathbf{U}\|_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)} \leqslant c(\|\mathbf{a}\|_{W^{3/2,2}(\partial\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}).$$
(3.3)

Obviously, **U** extends the boundary value **a** into  $\Omega$ . Hence, it follows from the definition (1.12) that a generalized solution  $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{w} + \mathbf{U}$ ,  $\mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega)$ , of the boundary-value problem (1.1)–(1.3) for the system of Navier–Stokes equations satisfies the integral identity

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \big( (\mathbf{w} + \mathbf{U}) \cdot \nabla \big) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, dx - \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{U} \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{U} \, dx \qquad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in H(\Omega).$$
(3.4)

In  $\S 2.2$  we described Leray's method for establishing an a priori bound, which is based on an argument by contradiction. The following lemma is an important element of the proof.

**Lemma 3.3.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain of the form (3.1) with  $C^2$ -smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega$ , let  $\mathbf{f} = \nabla^{\perp} b$  with  $b \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , and let  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial \Omega)$  satisfy (1.5). If the system (1.1)–(1.3) does not have generalized solutions, then there exists a pair of functions  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p}$  with the following properties.

(E)  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ ,  $\widehat{p} \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)$ ,  $q \in (1,2)$ , and the pair  $(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p})$  satisfies the Euler system of equations

$$(\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \cdot \nabla)\widehat{\mathbf{w}} + \nabla \widehat{p} = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$
(3.5a)

$$\operatorname{div}\widehat{\mathbf{w}} = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega, \tag{3.5b}$$

$$\widehat{\mathbf{w}} = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega. \tag{3.5c}$$

(E-NS) The conditions (E) hold and there exist sequences of functions  $\mathbf{u}_k \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and  $p_k \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)$  and sequences of numbers  $\nu_k \to 0+$  and  $\lambda_k \to \lambda_0 > 0$  such that the norms  $\|\mathbf{u}_k\|_{W^{1,2}(\Omega)}$  and  $\|p_k\|_{W^{1,q}(\Omega)}$  are uniformly bounded for each  $q \in [1,2)$ , the pairs  $(\mathbf{u}_k, p_k)$  satisfy the system of equations

$$-\nu_k \Delta \mathbf{u}_k + (\mathbf{u}_k \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}_k + \nabla p_k = \mathbf{f}_k, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$
(3.6a)

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}_k = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega, \tag{3.6b}$$

$$\mathbf{u}_k = \mathbf{a}_k, \qquad x \in \partial\Omega, \tag{3.6c}$$

with 
$$\mathbf{f}_k = \frac{\lambda_k \nu_k^2}{\nu^2} \mathbf{f}$$
 and  $\mathbf{a}_k = \frac{\lambda_k \nu_k}{\nu} \mathbf{a}$ , and  
 $\|\nabla \mathbf{u}_k\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \to 1$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_k \rightharpoonup \widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ ,  
 $p_k \rightharpoonup \widehat{p}$  in  $W^{1,q}(\Omega) \quad \forall q \in [1,2)$ .

In addition,  $\mathbf{u}_k \in W^{3,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and  $p_k \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ .

We shall assume in what follows that the conditions (E-NS) are satisfied. As we showed in § 2.2, if all the fluxes  $F_i$  are zero (see (1.6)), then the conditions (E-NS) lead to a contradiction, thereby proving that (1.1)–(1.3) is solvable. In this section our goal is to demonstrate that these conditions also lead to a contradiction in the general case when the boundary data **a** satisfy only the necessary condition (1.5). This will justify the existence Theorem 1.1.

As already mentioned in Lemma 2.2, it follows from the conditions (E) that there exist constants  $\hat{p}_0, \ldots, \hat{p}_N$  such that

$$\widehat{p}(x) \equiv \widehat{p}_j \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{H}^1\text{-almost all } x \in \Gamma_j.$$
(3.7)

Furthermore, it follows from (2.15) and (2.19) that

$$-\frac{\nu}{\lambda_0} = \sum_{j=0}^N \widehat{p}_j \int_{\Gamma_j} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds = \sum_{j=0}^N \widehat{p}_j \mathscr{F}_j.$$
(3.8)

Assuming that (1.6) holds and that all the fluxes  $F_i$ , i = 0, 1, ..., N, are zero, we now get the desired contradiction from the relation (3.8). For the same reasons we arrive at a contradiction when each flux  $F_j$  is 'sufficiently small'. Thus, in these cases the proof of the existence theorem is complete. However, the case when  $F_i \neq 0$  is more delicate and the argument must be more refined.

It follows from (3.5b) and (3.5c) that there exists a stream function  $\psi \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  such that

$$\nabla \psi \equiv \widehat{\mathbf{w}}^{\perp} \quad \text{in } \overline{\Omega}. \tag{3.9}$$

(Recall that  $(a, b)^{\perp} = (-b, a)$  by our definition.)

Let  $\widehat{\Phi}$  denote the total head pressure corresponding to the solution  $(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p}): \widehat{\Phi} = \widehat{p} + |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}|^2/2$ . The next formula is an immediate consequence of (3.5):

$$\nabla \widehat{\Phi} \equiv \widehat{\omega} \widehat{\mathbf{w}}^{\perp} = \widehat{\omega} \nabla \psi \quad \text{in } \Omega, \tag{3.10}$$

where  $\hat{\omega}$  denotes the corresponding vorticity

$$\widehat{\omega} = \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_1}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_2}{\partial x_1} = \Delta \psi.$$

In our case streamlines coincide with level sets of  $\psi$ , so from (3.10) we immediately deduce the classical Bernoulli law for smooth  $\psi$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$ :

### The total head pressure is constant on each streamline.

However, the Sobolev case is more delicate: the stream function  $\psi \in W^{2,1}(\Omega)$  is now not  $C^1$ -smooth and the total head pressure  $\widehat{\Phi}$  belongs to the space  $W^{1,q}(\Omega)$ with q < 2, in which functions are not necessarily continuous but are 'well defined' outside some 'bad' subset of zero length (one-dimensional Hausdorff measure) (see, for instance, [49], Theorem 1 in § 4.8 or Theorem 2 in § 4.9.2). Thus, Bernoulli's law for solutions in Sobolev spaces must be formulated 'modulo' a negligible 'bad' subset  $A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}$  with zero Hausdorff  $\mathfrak{H}^1$ -measure. Such a version of Bernoulli's law was established in [18], Theorem 1 (see also [19], Theorem 3.2, where more details of the proof were given).

**Theorem 3.2** (Bernoulli's law). Assume the conditions (E). Then there is a set  $A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}$  with  $\mathfrak{H}^1(A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}) = 0$  such that each point  $x \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}$  is a Lebesgue point<sup>4</sup> of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>To define a Lebesgue point on  $\partial\Omega$  we take the natural extensions of the functions  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$  to the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  by the constants **0** and  $\widehat{p}_i$ , respectively.

functions  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , and the following property holds for compact connected subsets  $K \subset \overline{\Omega}$ : if

$$\psi|_{K} = \text{const},$$
 (3.11)

then

$$\widehat{\Phi}(x_1) = \widehat{\Phi}(x_2) \quad \text{for all } x_1, x_2 \in K \setminus A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}.$$
(3.12)

**Lemma 3.4.** If the conditions (E) hold, then there exist constants  $\xi_0, \ldots, \xi_N \in \mathbb{R}$ such that  $\psi(x) \equiv \xi_j$  on the component  $\Gamma_j, j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ .

*Proof.* This can easily be deduced from the fact that, extending  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  by zero outside  $\Omega$ , we obtain a function in  $H(\mathbb{R}^2) \subset W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , so that the stream function  $\psi \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is 'well defined' in the whole of the plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , with  $\nabla \psi = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \Omega$ .  $\Box$ 

For  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  let  $K_x$  denote the connected component of the level set  $\{z \in \overline{\Omega} : \psi(z) = \psi(x)\}$  which contains x. By Lemma 3.4,  $K_x \cap \partial\Omega = \emptyset$  for each  $y \in \psi(\overline{\Omega}) \setminus \{\xi_0, \ldots, \xi_N\}$  and for any  $x \in \psi^{-1}(y)$ . Thus, Theorem 3.1 (ii), (iv) means that for almost all  $y \in \psi(\overline{\Omega})$  and each  $x \in \psi^{-1}(y)$  we have  $K_x \cap A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}} = \emptyset$ , and hence the component  $K_x \subset \Omega$  is a  $C^1$ -curve homeomorphic to a circle. We call such curves  $K_x$  admissible cycles.

The following lemma was proved in [19], Lemma 3.3.

**Lemma 3.5.** If the conditions (E-NS) are satisfied, then there exists a subsequence  $\Phi_{k_l}$  such that  $\Phi_{k_l}|_S$  converges uniformly to  $\widehat{\Phi}|_S$ ,  $\Phi_{k_l}|_S \rightrightarrows \widehat{\Phi}|_S$ , on almost all<sup>5</sup> admissible cycles S.

In connection with Lemma 3.5 we remark that Amick [17] proved the uniform convergence  $\Phi_k \Rightarrow \widehat{\Phi}$  on almost all circles. However, his method can easily be modified to prove uniform convergence on almost all level sets of any  $C^1$ -smooth function with non-vanishing gradient. Such a modification was carried out in the proof of Lemma 3.3 in [19].

In what follows we assume (without loss of generality) that the sequence  $\Phi_{k_l}$  in Lemma 3.5 coincides with  $\Phi_k$ . We shall call the admissible cycles S in the lemma regular cycles.

### **3.3.** Arriving at a contradiction. We look at two cases.

(a)  $\widehat{\Phi}$  attains its maximum on  $\partial \Omega$ :

$$\max_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} \widehat{\Phi}(x).$$
(3.13)

(b)  $\widehat{\Phi}$  does not attain its maximum on  $\partial \Omega$  (the case when  $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\Omega} \widehat{\Phi}(x) = +\infty$  is also possible):

$$\max_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j < \operatorname{ess\,sup} \widehat{\Phi}(x). \tag{3.14}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>By almost all cycles we mean the cycles in the inverse images  $\psi^{-1}(y)$  of almost all  $y \in \psi(\overline{\Omega})$ .

3.3.1.  $\widehat{\Phi}$  attains a maximum on  $\partial \Omega$ . Assume that (3.13) holds. By adding a constant to the pressure we can assume without loss of generality that

$$\max_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j = \operatorname{ess\,sup} \Phi(x) = 0. \tag{3.15}$$

In particular,

$$\Phi(x) \leqslant 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega. \tag{3.16}$$

If  $\hat{p}_0 = \hat{p}_1 = \cdots = \hat{p}_N$ , then since the total flux vanishes (1.5), we immediately obtain the desired contradiction by (3.8). Thus, we assume in what follows that

$$\min_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j < 0. \tag{3.17}$$

We change (if needed) the numbering of the boundary components  $\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_N$ so that

$$\hat{p}_j < 0, \qquad j = 0, 1, \dots, M,$$
(3.18)

$$\hat{p}_{M+1} = \dots = \hat{p}_N = 0.$$
 (3.19)

First of all we explain heuristically the central idea of the proof. It is well known that each function  $\Phi_k$  satisfies the linear elliptic equation

$$\Delta \Phi_k = \omega_k^2 + \frac{1}{\nu_k} \operatorname{div}(\Phi_k \mathbf{u}_k) - \frac{1}{\nu_k} \mathbf{f}_k \cdot \mathbf{u}_k.$$
(3.20)

If  $\mathbf{f}_k = 0$ , then by Hopf's maximum principle, for a subdomain  $\Omega' \Subset \Omega$  with  $C^2$ -boundary  $\partial \Omega'$  the maximum of  $\Phi_k$  in  $\Omega'$  is attained on  $\partial \Omega'$ , and if  $x_* \in \partial \Omega'$  is a maximum point, then the normal derivative of  $\Phi_k$  at  $x_*$  is strictly positive. However, it is not sufficient to apply this property as such: we instead use certain 'integral analogues' of it which will bring us to a contradiction with the co-area formula (see (3.36), (3.37)). For  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  and sufficiently large  $k \ge k(i)$  we construct a set  $E_i \subset \Omega$  formed by level curves of  $\Phi_k$  such that  $\Phi_k|_{E_i} \to 0$  as  $i \to \infty$  and  $E_i$  separates the boundary component  $\Gamma_N$  (on which  $\widehat{\Phi} = 0$ ) from the boundary components  $\Gamma_j$  with  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, M$  (on which  $\widehat{\Phi} < 0$ ). On the one hand, each of these level curves has length bounded below by a positive constant (because they separate the boundary components), and by the co-area formula this gives a lower bound for the integral  $\int_{E_i} |\nabla \Phi_k|$ . On the other hand, using the elliptic equation (3.20) for  $\Phi_k$ , the convergence  $\mathbf{f}_k \to 0$ , and the boundary condition (3.6c), we can find an upper bound for  $\int_{E_i} |\nabla \Phi_k|^2$  (see Lemma 3.6 below), and this latter bound will asymptotically be in contradiction with the previous bound.

For a multiply connected domain of general form the proof is essentially the same as for an annular domain (when  $\partial \Omega = \Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1$ ). The proof is analytic in nature, and the inessential differences concern only well-known geometric properties of level sets of continuous functions of two variables.

Using Kronrod's results (see § 3.1.2), we can construct a decreasing sequence of domains  $V_{i+1} \subseteq V_i \subset \Omega$  with the properties

$$\partial V_i = A_i^0 \cup \dots \cup A_i^M \cup \Gamma_K \cup \dots \cup \Gamma_N, \qquad (3.21)$$

where  $K \in \{M + 1, ..., N\}$  is a fixed integer and each set  $A_i^j$  with j = 0, 1, ..., Mand  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  is a regular cycle separating  $\Gamma_j$  from  $\Gamma_N$  such that

$$\widehat{\Phi}(A_i^j) = -t_i = 2^{-i} t_0 \tag{3.22}$$

(see Fig. 4; some details of the construction are explained, for instance, in  $\S$  5).

By the definition of a regular cycle (see the comments to Lemma 3.5) we have the uniform convergence  $\Phi_k|_{A_i^j} \Rightarrow \widehat{\Phi}(A_i^j) = -t_i$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Thus, for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ there is a  $k_i$  such that for all  $k \ge k_i$ ,

$$\Phi_k \big|_{A_i^j} < -\frac{7}{8} t_i, \quad \Phi_k \big|_{A_{i+1}^j} > -\frac{5}{8} t_i \qquad \forall j = 0, 1, \dots, M.$$
(3.23)

Then

$$\forall t \in \left[\frac{5}{8}t_i, \frac{7}{8}t_i\right] \quad \forall k \ge k_i \quad \Phi_k \big|_{A_i^j} < -t, \quad \Phi_k \big|_{A_{i+1}^j} > -t \quad \forall j = 0, 1, \dots, M.$$

$$(3.24)$$

For  $k \ge k_i$ , j = 0, 1, ..., M, and  $t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]$  let  $W_{ik}^j(t)$  denote the connected component of the open set  $\{x \in V_i \setminus \overline{V}_{i+1} : \Phi_k(x) > -t\}$  such that  $\partial W_{ik}^j(t) \supset A_{i+1}^j$ , and let

$$W_{ik}(t) = \bigcup_{j=0}^{M} W_{ik}^{j}(t), \qquad S_{ik}(t) = (\partial W_{ik}(t)) \cap V_i \setminus \overline{V}_{i+1}.$$

Clearly,  $\Phi_k \equiv -t$  on  $S_{ik}(t)$ . By construction

$$\partial W_{ik}(t) = S_{ik}(t) \cup A^0_{i+1} \cup \dots \cup A^M_{i+1}$$
(3.25)

(see Fig. 4). In view of the properties (E-NS), each function  $\Phi_k$  belongs to the Sobolev class  $W_{\text{loc}}^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , and hence the Morse–Sard theorem for Sobolev functions (see Theorem 3.1) gives us that for almost all  $t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]$  the level set  $S_{ik}(t)$  consists of finitely many  $C^1$ -smooth cycles, and  $\Phi_k$  is differentiable (in the classical sense) at each point  $x \in S_{ik}(t)$  such that  $\nabla \Phi_k(x) \neq 0$ . We call values  $t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]$  with this property (k, i)-regular values. By construction

$$\int_{S_{ik}(t)} \nabla \Phi_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds = -\int_{S_{ik}(t)} |\nabla \Phi_k| \, ds < 0, \tag{3.26}$$

where **n** is the unit outward normal vector to  $\partial W_{ik}(t)$  (relative to  $W_{ik}(t)$ ).

The following estimate is the key step.

**Lemma 3.6.** For each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  there is an index  $k(i) \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\int_{S_{ik}(t)} |\nabla \Phi_k| \, ds < \mathscr{F}t \tag{3.27}$$

for all  $k \ge k(i)$  and almost all  $t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]$ , where the constant  $\mathscr{F}$  is independent of t, k, and i.



Figure 4. The case of an annular domain (N = 1)

We discuss only the main steps of the proof. For h > 0 let

$$\Gamma_h = \{ x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_K \cup \dots \cup \Gamma_N) = h) \},\$$
  
$$\Omega_h = \{ x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_K \cup \dots \cup \Gamma_N) < h) \}.$$

In the first step of the proof we find for sufficiently large k a small number  $\overline{h}_k$  such that  $\Omega_{\overline{h}_k} \subset V_{i+2}$  and

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \Phi_k^2 \, ds < \sigma^2, \tag{3.28}$$

$$\left| \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \nabla \Phi_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds \right| = \left| \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \omega_k \mathbf{u}_k^{\perp} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds \right| < \varepsilon, \tag{3.29}$$

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} |\mathbf{u}_k|^2 \, ds < C_{\varepsilon} \nu_k^2, \tag{3.30}$$

where  $\sigma$  and  $\varepsilon$  are arbitrary (but fixed) small numbers, and the constant  $C_{\varepsilon}$  is independent of k and  $\sigma$ . We can find such a value of  $\overline{h}_k$  on the basis of the assumption (E-NS), by using the weak convergence  $\Phi_k \rightarrow \widehat{\Phi}$  and  $\mathbf{u}_k \rightarrow \widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  and the boundary conditions  $\|\mathbf{u}_k\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega)} = O(\nu_k)$  for  $\nu_k \rightarrow 0$  and  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \equiv 0$  and  $\widehat{\Phi} \equiv 0$  on  $\Gamma_K \cup \cdots \cup \Gamma_N$ (see (3.6c) and (3.5c)).

Now for a (k, i)-regular value  $t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]$  we take the domain

$$\Omega_{i\overline{h}_{k}}(t) = W_{ik}(t) \cup \overline{V}_{i+1} \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\overline{h}_{k}}.$$

By construction  $\partial \Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t) = \Gamma_{\overline{h}_k} \cup S_{ik}(t)$  (see Fig. 4). Integrating the identity

$$\Delta \Phi_k = \omega_k^2 + \frac{1}{\nu_k} \operatorname{div}(\Phi_k \mathbf{u}_k) - \frac{1}{\nu_k} \mathbf{f}_k \cdot \mathbf{u}_k$$
(3.31)

over  $\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)$ , we get that

$$\begin{split} \int_{S_{ik}(t)} \nabla \Phi_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds &+ \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \nabla \Phi_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds = \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \omega_k^2 \, dx - \frac{1}{\nu_k} \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \mathbf{f}_k \cdot \mathbf{u}_k \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{\nu_k} \int_{S_{ik}(t)} \Phi_k \mathbf{u}_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds + \frac{1}{\nu_k} \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \Phi_k \mathbf{u}_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds \\ &= \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \omega_k^2 \, dx - \frac{1}{\nu_k} \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \mathbf{f}_k \cdot \mathbf{u}_k \, dx - t\lambda_k \overline{\mathscr{F}} + \frac{1}{\nu_k} \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \Phi_k \mathbf{u}_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds, \end{split}$$
(3.32)

where  $\overline{\mathscr{F}} = (F_1 + \dots + F_M)/\nu$ . In view of (3.26) and (3.29),

$$\int_{S_{ik}(t)} |\nabla \Phi_k| \, ds \leqslant t \mathscr{F} + \varepsilon + \frac{1}{\nu_k} \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \mathbf{f}_k \cdot \mathbf{u}_k \, dx - \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \omega_k^2 \, dx \\ + \frac{1}{\nu_k} \left( \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} \Phi_k^2 \, ds \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\Gamma_{\overline{h}_k}} |\mathbf{u}_k|^2 \, ds \right)^{1/2}, \qquad (3.33)$$

where  $\mathscr{F} = |\overline{\mathscr{F}}|$ . By definition,

$$\frac{1}{\nu_k} \|\mathbf{f}_k\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \frac{\lambda_k \nu_k}{\nu^2} \|\mathbf{f}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

Consequently,

$$\left|\frac{1}{\nu_k}\int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)}\mathbf{f}_k\cdot\mathbf{u}_k\,dx\right|\leqslant\varepsilon$$

for sufficiently large k. Using the inequalities (3.28) and (3.30), we find that

$$\int_{S_{ik}(t)} |\nabla \Phi_k| \, ds \leqslant t \mathscr{F} + 2\varepsilon + \sigma \sqrt{C_\varepsilon} - \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \omega_k^2 \, dx, \tag{3.34}$$

where  $C_{\varepsilon}$  is independent of k and  $\sigma$ . We can show that for sufficiently large k the last term satisfies the inequality

$$\int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_{k}}(t)} \omega_{k}^{2} dx \ge \varepsilon_{i}$$
(3.35)

with a parameter  $\varepsilon_i > 0$  which is independent of k (otherwise  $\omega(x) \equiv 0$ , and accordingly  $\Phi(x) \equiv \text{const}$  on the set  $V_{i+1} \setminus V_{i+2} \subset \Omega_{i\bar{h}_k}(t)$ , which is impossible by construction). Taking  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_i/6$ ,  $\sigma = \varepsilon_i/(3\sqrt{C_{\varepsilon}})$ , and a sufficiently large k, we get from (3.35) that

$$2\varepsilon + \sigma \sqrt{C_\varepsilon} - \int_{\Omega_{i\overline{h}_k}(t)} \omega_k^2 \, dx \leqslant 0.$$

In combination with (3.34) this inequality yields the required estimate (3.27).

We can now obtain the desired contradiction using the co-area formula.

**Lemma 3.7.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain of type (3.1) with  $C^2$ -smooth boundary  $\partial\Omega$ , let  $\mathbf{f} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , and assume that the boundary data  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$  satisfy the condition of zero total flux (1.5). Then the assumptions (E-NS) and (3.13) lead to a contradiction.

*Proof.* For  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $k \ge k(i)$  (see Lemma 3.6) let

$$E_i = \bigcup_{t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]} S_{ik}(t).$$

By the co-area formula (see, for instance, [50]), for each integrable function  $g: E_i \to \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\int_{E_i} g|\nabla \Phi_k| \, dx = \int_{5t_i/8}^{7t_i/8} \int_{S_{ik}(t)} g(x) \, d\mathfrak{H}^1(x) \, dt.$$
(3.36)

In particular, for  $g = |\nabla \Phi_k|$  we get from (3.27) that

$$\int_{E_i} |\nabla \Phi_k|^2 \, dx = \int_{5t_i/8}^{7t_i/8} \int_{S_{ik}(t)} |\nabla \Phi_k|(x) \, d\mathfrak{H}^1(x) \, dt \le \int_{5t_i/8}^{7t_i/8} \mathscr{F}t \, dt = \mathscr{F}' t_i^2, \quad (3.37)$$

where the parameter  $\mathscr{F}' = 3\mathscr{F}/16$  is independent of *i*. Setting g = 1 in (3.36) and using Hölder's inequality, we now find that

$$\int_{5t_i/8}^{7t_i/8} \mathfrak{H}^1\left(S_{ik}(t)\right) dt = \int_{E_i} |\nabla \Phi_k| \, dx \leqslant \left(\int_{E_i} |\nabla \Phi_k|^2 \, dx\right)^{1/2} \left(\operatorname{meas}(E_i)\right)^{1/2} \\ \leqslant \sqrt{\mathscr{F}'} \, t_i \left(\operatorname{meas}(E_i)\right)^{1/2}. \tag{3.38}$$

By construction, for almost all  $t \in [5t_i/8, 7t_i/8]$  the set  $S_{ik}(t)$  is a finite union of smooth cycles, and  $S_{ik}(t)$  separates  $A_i^j$  from  $A_{i+1}^j$  for  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, M$ . Thus, each set  $S_{ik}(t)$  separates the component  $\Gamma_j$  from  $\Gamma_N$ . In particular,

 $\mathfrak{H}^1(S_{ik}(t)) \ge \min(\operatorname{diam} \Gamma_j, \operatorname{diam} \Gamma_N).$ 

Hence, the left-hand integral in (3.38) is greater than  $Ct_i$ , where the positive constant C is independent of i. On the other hand, it is obvious that

$$\operatorname{meas}(E_i) \leq \operatorname{meas}(V_i \setminus V_{i+1}) \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad i \to \infty,$$

a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

3.3.2.  $\widehat{\Phi}$  does not attain a maximum on  $\partial\Omega$ . In this subsection we look at the case (b), when the assumption (3.14) holds (here  $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\Omega}\widehat{\Phi}(x) \operatorname{can} = +\infty$ ). Let  $\sigma = \max_{j=0,\ldots,N} \widehat{p}_j$ .

First, [22] establishes the following technical result.

**Lemma 3.8.** There exists a regular cycle  $F \subset \Omega$  such that  $\widehat{\Phi}(F) > \sigma$ .

The rest of the proof in the case (3.14) under consideration is similar to the argument in § 3.3.1 for the case (3.13) already covered. The differences are as follows: now M = N, the set F plays the role of the component  $\Gamma_N$  in the above

argument, and the calculations become even simpler because F lies strictly inside  $\Omega$ . Namely, for some  $t < \Phi(F)$  and sufficiently large k we can construct a subdomain  $\Omega_k(t) \Subset \Omega$  such that

$$F \in \Omega_k(t), \qquad \partial \Omega_k(t) = S_k(t), \qquad \Phi_k \Big|_{S_k(t)} \equiv t,$$

and  $S_k(t)$  is a finite union of  $C^1$ -smooth cycles such that the gradient of  $\Phi_k$  at points of  $S_k(t)$  is directed strictly inside  $\Omega_k(t)$ , that is,

$$\int_{S_k(t)} \nabla \Phi_k \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds = -\int_{S_k(t)} |\nabla \Phi_k| \, ds < 0, \tag{3.39}$$

where **n** is the unit outward normal vector to  $S_k(t)$  (relative to  $\Omega_k(t)$ ). Integrating the identity (3.31) over  $\Omega_k(t)$ , we get that

$$0 > \int_{S_{k}(t)} \nabla \Phi_{k} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds = \int_{\Omega_{k}(t)} \omega_{k}^{2} \, dx + \frac{1}{\nu_{k}} \int_{S_{k}(t)} \Phi_{k} \mathbf{u}_{k} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds - \frac{1}{\nu_{k}} \int_{\Omega_{k}(t)} \mathbf{f}_{k} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{k} \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega_{k}(t)} \omega_{k}^{2} \, dx + \frac{t}{\nu_{k}} \int_{S_{k}(t)} \mathbf{u}_{k} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds - \frac{\nu_{k}}{\nu^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{k}(t)} \mathbf{f} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{k} \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega_{k}(t)} \omega_{k}^{2} \, dx - \frac{\nu_{k}}{\nu^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{k}(t)} \mathbf{f} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{k} \, dx. \tag{3.40}$$

As previously, we can show that the first term on the right-hand side of the last formula satisfies  $\int_{\Omega_k(t)} \omega_k^2 dx \ge \varepsilon_t$  with a positive constant  $\varepsilon_t$  independent of k, while the second term  $\frac{\nu_k}{\nu^2} \int_{\Omega_k(t)} \mathbf{f} \cdot \mathbf{u}_k dx$  tends to zero as  $k \to \infty$ , which is a contradiction. (The reader can find details in [22], § 3.3.2.) Thus, we have established the following result.

**Lemma 3.9.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain of type (3.1) with  $C^2$ -smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega$ , let  $\mathbf{f} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , and assume that the boundary data  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial \Omega)$  satisfy the condition of zero total flux (1.5). Then the assumptions (E-NS) and (3.14) lead to a contradiction.

*Proof of Theorem* 1.1. Assume that the hypotheses of Theorem 1.1 hold, but its assertion fails to hold. Then by Lemma 3.3 there exist functions  $\hat{\mathbf{w}}$ ,  $\hat{p}$  and a sequence  $(\mathbf{u}_k, p_k)$  satisfying the set of conditions (E-NS). However, by Lemmas 3.9 and 3.7 these assumptions lead to a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

### 4. The axially symmetric case

We start by refining some notation. Let  $O_{x_1}$ ,  $O_{x_2}$ ,  $O_{x_3}$  be the coordinate axes in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and let

$$\theta = \arctan \frac{x_2}{x_1}, \qquad r = (x_1^2 + x_2^2)^{1/2}, \quad z = x_3$$

be the cylindrical system of coordinates. Denote by  $v_{\theta}$ ,  $v_r$ ,  $v_z$  the projections of a vector **v** on the  $\theta$ -, r-, and z-axes.

Recall that a scalar function f is axially symmetric if it does not depend on  $\theta$ . In turn, a vector-valued function  $\mathbf{h} = (h_r, h_\theta, h_z)$  is said to be axially symmetric if  $h_r$ ,  $h_\theta$ , and  $h_z$  are independent of  $\theta$ . A vector-valued function  $\mathbf{h}' = (h_r, h_\theta, h_z)$  is said to be axially symmetric without swirl if  $h_{\theta} = 0$  and  $h_r$  and  $h_z$  are independent of  $\theta$ .

The central result in this section is as follows.

**Theorem 4.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded axially symmetric domain (see, for instance, Fig. 5) with  $C^2$ -smooth boundary  $\partial\Omega$  consisting of N + 1 connected components  $\Gamma_i$ . If  $\mathbf{f} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$  are axially symmetric and the boundary values  $\mathbf{a}$  satisfy the condition (1.5) of zero total flux, then the system (1.1)-(1.3) has at least one generalized axially symmetric solution. Moreover, if  $\mathbf{f}$ and  $\mathbf{a}$  are axially symmetric functions without swirl, then (1.1)-(1.3) also has at least one generalized axially symmetric solution without swirl.



Figure 5. An axially symmetric domain (N = 3)

Using Leray's argument by contradiction (whose main idea was presented in  $\S 3.2$  in the planar case; the reader can find details reflecting the peculiarities of the axially symmetric case, for instance, in [23]), we can prove the following.

**Lemma 4.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded axially symmetric domain with a  $C^2$ -smooth boundary  $\partial\Omega$  consisting of N + 1 connected components  $\Gamma_i$ , and let  $\mathbf{f} = \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{b}$ ,  $\mathbf{b} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , and  $\mathbf{a} \in W^{3/2,2}(\partial\Omega)$  be axially symmetric vector-valued functions such that the boundary data  $\mathbf{a}$  satisfy the condition (1.5) of zero total flux. If the assertion of Theorem 4.1 is false, then there exist  $\hat{\mathbf{w}}$  and  $\hat{p}$  with the following properties.

(E-AX) The functions  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \in \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and  $\widehat{p} \in W^{1,3/2}(\Omega)$  are axially symmetric and satisfy the Euler system of equations (3.5).

(E-NS-AX) The condition (E-AX) is satisfied and there exist sequences of axially symmetric functions  $\mathbf{u}_k \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and  $p_k \in W^{1,3/2}(\Omega)$  and sequences of numbers  $\nu_k \to 0+$  and  $\lambda_k \to \lambda_0 > 0$  such that the norms  $\|\mathbf{u}_k\|_{W^{1,2}(\Omega)}$  and  $\|p_k\|_{W^{1,3/2}(\Omega)}$ are uniformly bounded, the pairs  $(\mathbf{u}_k, p_k)$  satisfy the system of equations (3.6) with

$$\mathbf{f}_{k} = \frac{\lambda_{k}\nu_{k}^{2}}{\nu^{2}}\mathbf{f} \text{ and } \mathbf{a}_{k} = \frac{\lambda_{k}\nu_{k}}{\nu}\mathbf{a}, \text{ and}$$
$$\|\nabla\mathbf{u}_{k}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \to 1, \qquad \mathbf{u}_{k} \rightharpoonup \widehat{\mathbf{w}} \quad in \ W^{1,2}(\Omega), \qquad p_{k} \rightharpoonup \widehat{p} \quad in \ W^{1,3/2}(\Omega).$$
(4.1)

Furthermore,  $\mathbf{u}_k \in W^{3,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and  $p_k \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ .

As in the previous section, to prove the existence theorem (Theorem 4.1) we must show that the conditions (E-NS-AX) lead to a contradiction.

We define the sets  $P_+ = \{(0, x_2, x_3) : x_2 > 0, x_3 \in \mathbb{R}\}$  and  $\mathscr{D} = \Omega \cap P_+$ . In the half-plane  $P_+$  the variables  $x_2, x_3$  obviously coincide with r, z.

For a set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  let  $\check{A} := A \cap P_+$ , and for a set  $B \subset P_+$  let  $\tilde{B}$  denote the subset of  $\mathbb{R}^3$  obtained by rotating B about the axis  $O_z$ .

The following properties are easy to see.

 $(S_1) \mathscr{D}$  is a bounded plane domain with Lipschitz boundary. Moreover, each set  $\check{\Gamma}_j$ ,  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ , is connected. In other words,  $\{\check{\Gamma}_j : j = 0, 1, \ldots, N\}$  is the family of all connected components of the set  $P_+ \cap \partial \mathscr{D}$ .

Thus,  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  and  $\widehat{p}$  satisfy the following system in  $\mathscr{D}$ :

$$\frac{\partial \widehat{p}}{\partial r} - \frac{(\widehat{w}_{\theta})^{2}}{r} + \widehat{w}_{r} \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_{r}}{\partial r} + \widehat{w}_{z} \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_{r}}{\partial z} = 0, \\
\frac{\partial \widehat{p}}{\partial z} + \widehat{w}_{r} \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_{z}}{\partial r} + \widehat{w}_{z} \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_{z}}{\partial z} = 0, \\
\frac{\widehat{w}_{\theta} \widehat{w}_{r}}{r} + \widehat{w}_{r} \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_{\theta}}{\partial r} + \widehat{w}_{z} \frac{\partial \widehat{w}_{\theta}}{\partial z} = 0, \\
\frac{\partial (r \widehat{w}_{r})}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial (r \widehat{w}_{z})}{\partial z} = 0$$
(4.2)

(these equations hold for almost all  $x \in \mathscr{D}$ ) and

$$\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x) = 0 \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{H}^1\text{-almost all } x \in P_+ \cap \partial \mathscr{D}.$$
 (4.3)

We have the following integral estimates:  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{D})$ ,

$$\int_{\mathscr{D}} r |\nabla \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(r, z)|^2 \, dr \, dz < \infty, \tag{4.4}$$

and by the Sobolev embedding theorem for three-dimensional domains,  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}} \in L^6(\Omega)$ , that is,

$$\int_{\mathscr{D}} r |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(r,z)|^6 \, dr \, dz < \infty. \tag{4.5}$$

In addition, the condition  $\nabla \widehat{p} \in L^{3/2}(\Omega)$  can be written as

$$\int_{\mathscr{D}} r |\nabla \widehat{p}(r,z)|^{3/2} \, dr \, dz < \infty.$$
(4.6)

**4.1. Some results on the Euler equations.** Here we have collected results from papers before [22] for the limiting solution  $(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p})$  of the system (4.2), (4.3).

The following result was proved in [33] (Lemma 4) and [17] (Theorem 2.2).

Theorem 4.2. If the conditions (E-AX) are satisfied, then

$$\forall j \in \{0, 1, \dots, N\} \quad \exists \widehat{p}_j \in \mathbb{R} : \quad \widehat{p}(x) \equiv \widehat{p}_j \quad for \ \mathfrak{H}^2\text{-almost all } x \in \Gamma_j.$$
(4.7)

In particular, by axial symmetry

$$\widehat{p}(x) \equiv \widehat{p}_j \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{H}^1\text{-almost all } x \in \check{\Gamma}_j.$$

$$(4.8)$$

We need a weak version of Bernoulli's law for Sobolev solutions  $(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p})$  of the Euler equations (4.2) (see Theorem 4.3 below).

It follows from the last equality in (4.2) and from (4.4) that there exists a stream function  $\psi \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{D})$  such that

$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial r} = -r\widehat{w}_z, \qquad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial z} = r\widehat{w}_r.$$
(4.9)

It is easy to see that  $\psi$  is continuous at points of the set

$$\overline{\mathscr{D}} \setminus O_z = \overline{\mathscr{D}} \setminus \{(0, z) \colon z \in \mathbb{R}\}.$$

**Lemma 4.2** (cf. Lemma 3.4). If the conditions (E-AX) are satisfied, then there exist constants  $\xi_0, \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_N \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\psi(x) \equiv \xi_j$  on each curve  $\check{\Gamma}_j, j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ .

Let  $\widehat{\Phi} = \widehat{p} + |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}|^2/2$  denote the total head pressure corresponding to the solution  $(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}, \widehat{p})$ .

**Theorem 4.3** (Bernoulli's law [23]). If the conditions (E-AX) are satisfied, then there exists a set  $A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}$  with  $\mathfrak{H}^1(A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}) = 0$  such that each  $x \in \overline{\mathscr{D}} \setminus (O_z \cup A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}})$  is a Lebesgue point<sup>6</sup> of  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , and the following property holds for each compact connected set  $K \subset \overline{\mathscr{D}} \setminus O_z$ : if

$$\psi|_{K} = \text{const}, \tag{4.10}$$

then

$$\overline{\Phi}(x_1) = \overline{\Phi}(x_2) \quad for \ all \ x_1, x_2 \in K \setminus A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}.$$

$$(4.11)$$

# 4.2. Arriving at a contradiction. Assume that

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_j \cap O_{x_3} \neq \varnothing, & j = 0, 1, \dots, M', \\ \Gamma_j \cap O_{x_3} = \varnothing, & j = M' + 1, \dots, N. \end{split}$$

The following result was proved in [23].

**Theorem 4.4.** If the conditions (E-AX) are satisfied, then  $\hat{p}_0 = \cdots = \hat{p}_{M'}$ , where the  $\hat{p}_j$  are the constants in Theorem 4.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In the definition of a Lebesgue point on  $(\partial \mathscr{D}) \setminus (O_z \cup A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}})$  we take the natural extensions of the functions  $\widehat{\mathbf{w}}$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$  to the whole of  $P_+$  by the constants **0** and  $\widehat{p}_j$ , respectively.

This is connected with the fact that the symmetry axis can be approximated by streamlines, and the total head pressure is constant on streamlines (see Theorem 4.4).

Now we look at three possible cases.

(a)  $\overline{\Phi}$  attains its maximum on a boundary component intersecting the axis of symmetry:

$$\widehat{p}_0 = \max_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\Omega} \widehat{\Phi}(x). \tag{4.12}$$

(b)  $\widehat{\Phi}$  attains its maximum on a boundary component disjoint from the axis of symmetry:

$$\widehat{p}_0 < \widehat{p}_N = \max_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} \widehat{\Phi}(x).$$
(4.13)

(c)  $\widehat{\Phi}$  does not attain its maximum on  $\partial \Omega$ :

$$\max_{j=0,\dots,N} \widehat{p}_j < \operatorname{ess\,sup} \widehat{\Phi}(x). \tag{4.14}$$

We consider the case (4.12). By adding a constant to the pressure p we can assume without loss of generality that

$$\widehat{p}_0 = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} \widehat{\Phi}(x) = 0. \tag{4.15}$$

Since  $\hat{p}_0 = \hat{p}_1 = \cdots = \hat{p}_N$  is impossible, we have  $\hat{p}_j < 0$  for some  $j \in \{M' + 1, \dots, N\}$  (recall that  $\hat{p}_0 = \cdots = \hat{p}_{M'} = 0$  by Theorem 4.4).

Now we can obtain a contradiction by repeating the arguments in [23] and [20]. From (3.5a) and (3.5b),

$$0 = x \cdot \nabla \widehat{p}(x) + x \cdot \left(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x) \cdot \nabla\right) \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)$$
  
= div  $\left[x \, \widehat{p}(x) + \left(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x) \cdot x\right) \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)\right] - \widehat{p}(x) \operatorname{div} x - |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^2$   
= div  $\left[x \, \widehat{p}(x) + \left(\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x) \cdot x\right) \widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)\right] - 3\widehat{\Phi}(x) + \frac{1}{2} |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^2.$  (4.16)

Integrating over  $\Omega$ , we have

$$0 \ge \int_{\Omega} \left[ 3\widehat{\Phi}(x) - \frac{1}{2} |\widehat{\mathbf{w}}(x)|^2 \right] dx = \int_{\partial\Omega} \widehat{p}(x) \left( x \cdot \mathbf{n} \right) ds = \sum_{j=0}^N \widehat{p}_j \int_{\Gamma_j} \left( x \cdot \mathbf{n} \right) ds$$
$$= -\sum_{j=1}^N \widehat{p}_j \int_{\Omega_j} \operatorname{div} x \, dx = -3 \sum_{j=1}^N \widehat{p}_j |\Omega_j| > 0.$$

This contradiction completes the proof in the case (4.12).

In the second case, (4.13), we surround the maximum component  $\Gamma_N$  by a regular cycle separating  $\Gamma_N$  from the axis of symmetry  $O_z$  such that  $\widehat{\Phi} \equiv c \in (\widehat{p}_0, \widehat{p}_N)$  on this cycle. We thereby eliminate a neighbourhood of the singular line  $O_z$  from consideration. Now we can reduce the proof to the planar case we examined in § 3.3.1. We can also make a similar reduction in the third case, (4.14). We have therefore shown that the assumptions (E-NS-AX) lead to a contradiction in all three possible cases (4.12)–(4.14). This completes the proof of Theorem 4.1.

# 5. Supplement to §§ 3 and 4

In this section we describe the construction of subdomains  $V_i$  with the property (3.21). By Remark 3.1 and Lemma 3.4, Kronrod's results hold for the stream function  $\psi$ . On the Kronrod tree  $T_{\psi}$  (see § 3.1.2) we define the total head pressure as follows. Let  $K \in T_{\psi}$  be such that diam K > 0, take an arbitrary point  $x \in K \setminus A_{\widehat{\mathbf{w}}}$ , and let  $\widehat{\Phi}(K) = \widehat{\Phi}(x)$ . This definition is consistent by Bernoulli's law (see Theorem 3.2). We have the following result.

**Lemma 5.1** [22]. Let  $A, B \in T_{\psi}$ , with diam A > 0 and diam B > 0. Let  $[A, B] \subset T_{\psi}$  be the arc joining A and B (see Lemma 3.2). Then the restriction  $\widehat{\Phi}|_{[A,B]}$  is a continuous function.

We note that the proof of the lemma is based on Bernoulli's law (see Theorem 3.2) and the well-known quasi-continuity<sup>7</sup> of Sobolev functions (see, for instance, [49], Theorem 1 in § 4.8 and Theorem 2 in § 4.9.2).

We say that a subset  $\mathscr{Z}$  of  $T_{\psi}$  has *T*-measure zero if  $\mathfrak{H}^1(\{\psi(C): C \in \mathscr{Z}\}) = 0$ . The function  $\widehat{\Phi}|_{T_{\psi}}$  turns out to have an analogue of the Luzin *N*-property.

**Lemma 5.2** [22]. Let  $A, B \in T_{\psi}$ , with diam A > 0 and diam B > 0. If a set  $\mathscr{Z} \subset [A, B]$  has T-measure zero, then  $\mathfrak{H}^1(\{\widehat{\Phi}(C) \colon C \in \mathscr{Z}\}) = 0$ .

The corresponding proof is based on the co-area formula (see, for instance, [50]). From Lemmas 3.5 and 5.2 we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 5.1.** If  $A, B \in T_{\psi}$ , diam A > 0, and diam B > 0, then

$$\mathfrak{H}^1({\{\widehat{\Phi}(C): C \in [A, B] \text{ and } C \text{ is not a regular cycle}\}}) = 0$$

Let  $B_0, B_1, \ldots, B_N$  be elements of  $T_{\psi}$  such that  $B_j \supset \Gamma_j$ ,  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ . By Lemma 3.4 each element  $C \in [B_i, B_j] \setminus \{B_i, B_j\}$  is a connected component of a level set of  $\psi$  such that  $B_i$  and  $B_j$  lie in different connected components of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus C$ .

We set

$$\alpha = \max_{j=0,\dots,M} \min_{C \in [B_j, B_N]} \widehat{\Phi}(C)$$

and note that  $\alpha < 0$  by (3.18). Now we take a sequence of positive numbers  $t_i \in (0, -\alpha), i \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $t_{i+1} = t_i/2$  such that the implication

$$\Phi(C) = -t_i \quad \Rightarrow \quad C \text{ is a regular cycle}$$

holds for each j = 0, 1, ..., M and all  $C \in [B_j, B_N]$ . Corollary 5.1 ensures that there is such a sequence.

We introduce the natural ordering on the arc  $[B_j, B_N]$ , namely, we write C' < C''if C'' is closer to  $B_N$  than C' (this means that C' and  $B_N$  belong to different connected components of the set  $T_{\psi} \setminus \{C''\}$ ). For  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, M$  and  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  let

$$A_i^j = \max\{C \in [B_j, B_N] \colon \widehat{\Phi}(C) = -t_i\}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The property of quasi-continuity of a function  $\widehat{\Phi}$  means the following: for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  such that  $\mathfrak{H}^1_{\infty}(U) < \varepsilon$  and the restriction  $\widehat{\Phi}|_{\overline{\Omega} \setminus U}$  is continuous.

In other words,  $A_i^j$  is the element of  $\{C \in [B_j, B_N] : \widehat{\Phi}(C) = -t_i\}$  closest to  $\Gamma_N$ .

By construction each set  $A_i^j$  is a regular cycle (see Fig. 4 for the case of an annular domain, with N = 1). Some of these cycles  $A_i^j$  may coincide, that is, it is possible that  $A_i^{j_1} = A_i^{j_2}$  (when the arcs  $[B_{j_1}, B_N]$  and  $[B_{j_2}, B_N]$  of the Kronrod tree have a non-trivial intersection), but this a priori possibility does not affect our argument. By construction the cycles  $A_i^j$  are either disjoint or coincide, that is, if  $A_i^{j_1} \neq A_i^{j_2}$ , then  $A_i^{j_1} \cap A_i^{j_2} = \emptyset$ .

By the definition of a regular cycle (see the comments on Lemma 3.5) each  $A_i^j$  is a  $C^1$ -curve homeomorphic to the unit circle. Furthermore,  $A_i^j \subset \Omega$ , and in particular, for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  the compact set  $\bigcup_{j=0}^M A_i^j$  is separated from  $\partial\Omega$  and

$$\operatorname{dist}\left(\bigcup_{j=0}^{M} A_{i}^{j}, \partial\Omega\right) > 0.$$

Then for each i and for sufficiently small h > 0 (how small depends on i) we have the inclusion

$$\{x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_N) < h\} \subset \Omega \setminus \left(\bigcup_{j=0}^M A_i^j\right).$$

Of course, for small h the set  $\{x \in \Omega: \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_N) < h\}$  is connected (it is homeomorphic to an open annulus). Hence, for small h this set lies in a connected component of the open set  $\Omega \setminus (\bigcup_{j=0}^{M} A_i^j)$ . Let  $V_i$  be this component. In particular,  $\Gamma_N \subset \partial V_i$  and

$$\Omega \cap \partial V_i = A_i^0 \cup \dots \cup A_i^M.$$
(5.1)

By construction the sequence of domains  $V_i$  is decreasing:  $V_i \supset V_{i+1}$ . Therefore, the sequence of sets  $(\partial \Omega) \cap (\partial V_i)$  is non-increasing:

$$(\partial\Omega) \cap (\partial V_i) \supseteq (\partial\Omega) \cap (\partial V_{i+1}). \tag{5.2}$$

Each set  $(\partial \Omega) \cap (\partial V_i)$  consists of several components  $\Gamma_l$  with l > M (because the arcs  $\bigcup_{j=0}^M A_i^j$  separate  $\Gamma_N$  from  $\Gamma_0, \ldots, \Gamma_M$  but not necessarily from the other  $\Gamma_l$ ). Since there are only finitely many components  $\Gamma_l$ , we conclude from the monotonicity (5.2) that the set  $(\partial \Omega) \cap (\partial V_i)$  is independent of *i* for large *i*. Thus, we can assume without loss of generality that  $(\partial \Omega) \cap (\partial V_i) = \Gamma_K \cup \cdots \cup \Gamma_N$ , where  $K \in \{M + 1, \ldots, N\}$ . Consequently,

$$\partial V_i = A_i^0 \cup \dots \cup A_i^M \cup \Gamma_K \cup \dots \cup \Gamma_N.$$
(5.3)

#### 6. Solutions with singularities in the flow region

**6.1. Planar flows.** In this section we deal with planar solutions and axially symmetric solutions of the flux problem which are generated by sources or sinks in the flow region. We start with a planar problem. Let  $\Gamma$  be a smooth Jordan curve in the plane which bounds a domain  $\Omega$  and encloses the origin O. There is a source or

sink with intensity F at O. We must find a solution of (1.1), (1.2) in  $\Omega \setminus O$  which satisfies the conditions (1.3) and

$$u_r = \frac{F}{2\pi r} [1 + o(1)], \quad u_{\varphi} = o(1), \qquad r \to 0,$$
 (6.1)

where  $u_r$  and  $u_{\varphi}$  are the radial and the tangential components of the velocity. Assume that the origin is the only singular point of the velocity field. Then it follows from (1.2) and the conditions (1.3) and (6.1) that

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = F \tag{6.2}$$

(**n** is the unit outward normal vector to  $\Gamma$ ).

The problem (1.1)-(1.3), (6.1) is the limiting case of the problem of a steady flow of a viscous incompressible fluid in a curvilinear annulus with flux conditions at the boundary components. It was first considered in [51], where its solvability for small values of the parameter  $|F|/\nu$  was announced. Details of the proof were presented in [52]. Another proof was given by Russo and Tartaglione [53]. A specific feature of the problem (1.1)-(1.3), (6.1) is the fact that the Dirichlet integral of the unknown vector-valued function  $\mathbf{u}(x)$  is infinite in view of the representation (6.1). Moreover, a solution of this problem has infinite energy. However, there are hopes that in the regularized problem obtained by separating out the singular components of the functions  $\mathbf{u}$  and p we can obtain an a priori estimate ensuring its solvability.

The equations of planar motion in the polar coordinate system  $(r, \varphi)$  are obtained from (2.51), where we must replace  $\theta$  by  $\varphi$ , let  $u_z = 0$ , and assume that  $u_r$ ,  $u_{\varphi}$ , and p are independent of z. Let us introduce the new unknown functions

$$w_r = u_r - \frac{F}{2\pi r}, \qquad w_{\varphi} = u_{\varphi}, \qquad \overline{p} = p + \frac{F^2}{8\pi^2 r^2}.$$
 (6.3)

By (2.51), the vector **w** and the function  $\overline{p}$  satisfy the system of equations

$$\begin{split} w_r \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} &+ \frac{1}{r} w_{\varphi} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial \varphi} - \frac{1}{r} w_{\varphi}^2 + \frac{F}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} - \frac{F}{2\pi r^2} w_r \\ &= -\frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial r} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 w_r}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2 w_r}{\partial \varphi^2} - \frac{1}{r^2} w_r - \frac{2}{r^2} \frac{\partial w_{\varphi}}{\partial \varphi} \right), \\ w_r \frac{\partial w_{\varphi}}{\partial r} &+ \frac{1}{r} w_{\varphi} \frac{\partial w_{\varphi}}{\partial \varphi} + \frac{1}{r} w_r w_{\varphi} + \frac{F}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial w_{\varphi}}{\partial r} + \frac{F}{2\pi r^2} w_{\varphi} \\ &= -\frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial \varphi} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 w_{\varphi}}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w_{\varphi}}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2 w_{\varphi}}{\partial \varphi^2} - \frac{1}{r^2} w_{\varphi} + \frac{2}{r^2} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial \varphi} \right), \end{split}$$
(6.4)  
$$\frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r} w_r + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w_{\varphi}}{\partial \varphi} = 0. \end{split}$$

In the new terms the condition (1.3) can be rewritten as

$$\mathbf{w} = \widetilde{\mathbf{a}}(x), \qquad x \in \Gamma, \tag{6.5}$$

where the vector  $\tilde{\mathbf{a}}$  has components  $\tilde{a}_r = a_r - F/(2\pi r)$  and  $\tilde{a}_{\varphi} = a_{\varphi}$ . By (6.2) this vector satisfies the zero flux condition:

$$\int_{\Gamma} \widetilde{\mathbf{a}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = 0. \tag{6.6}$$

Using (6.6), we can reformulate the problem (6.4), (6.5) in terms of the stream function  $\psi(r, \varphi)$ , which is connected with the components of **w** by the relations

$$w_r = \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \varphi}, \qquad w_{\varphi} = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial r}.$$
 (6.7)

(Passing to the stream function before separating out the singular component of the velocity field would not help, because the stream function of a point source in the planar problem is multivalued.) The stream function satisfies the equation

$$\nu\Delta^2\psi - \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial(\Delta\psi,\psi)}{\partial(r,\varphi)} - \frac{F}{2\pi r}\frac{\partial\Delta\psi}{\partial r} = 0.$$
(6.8)

We can rewrite the boundary condition (6.5) in terms of the stream function as

$$\psi = a(x), \quad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial n} = b(x), \qquad x \in \Gamma.$$
(6.9)

The functions a and b can be expressed in terms of the components of the vector  $\tilde{\mathbf{a}}$ . If these components are in the class  $W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma)$ , then we have

$$a \in W^{3/2,2}(\Gamma), \qquad b \in W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma).$$
 (6.10)

We make these assumptions in what follows.

In the problem (6.8), (6.9) we now pass to a new unknown function  $\chi = \psi - f$  such that

$$f = a, \quad \frac{\partial f}{\partial n} = b, \qquad x \in \Gamma.$$
 (6.11)

We shall specify our choice of f below. The function  $\chi$  is a solution of the boundary-value problem

$$\nu\Delta^{2}\chi - \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial(\Delta\chi,\chi)}{\partial(r,\varphi)} - \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial(\Delta\chi,f)}{\partial(r,\varphi)} - \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial(\Delta f,\chi)}{\partial(r,\varphi)} - \frac{F}{2\pi r}\frac{\partial\Delta\chi}{\partial r} = g, \quad x \in \Omega \setminus \{0\},$$
(6.12)

$$\chi = 0, \quad \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial n} = 0, \qquad x \in \Gamma,$$
 (6.13)

where

$$g = -\nu\Delta^2 f + \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial(\Delta f, f)}{\partial(r, \varphi)} + \frac{F}{2\pi r}\frac{\partial\Delta f}{\partial r}.$$
(6.14)

Let  $0 < \gamma < \text{dist}(\Gamma, \{0\})$ , and denote by  $\Omega_{\gamma}$  the domain bounded by the curve  $\Gamma$ and the circle  $C_{\gamma} = \{x : r = \gamma\}$ . Let  $\mathring{H}^2(\Omega_{\gamma}; r)$  be the Hilbert space equal to the closure of the set of functions in  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega_{\gamma})$  with respect to the norm

$$\|\eta\|_{\mathring{H}^{2}(\Omega_{\gamma};r)}^{2} = \int_{\Omega_{\gamma}} \left(\eta_{rr}^{2} + \frac{2}{r^{2}}\eta_{r\varphi}^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{4}}\eta_{\varphi\varphi}^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\eta_{r}^{2}\right) r \, dr \, d\varphi.$$

Letting  $\gamma$  approach zero, we obtain a Hilbert space  $V(\Omega; r)$  with norm defined by the same equality as above, but with  $\Omega$  as the domain of integration. The functions  $\eta \in \mathring{V}(\Omega; r)$  are continuous in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and vanish for r = 0, and the inequality  $|\eta| \leq C_0 r^{\alpha} ||\eta||_{\mathring{H}^2(\Omega; r)}$  holds for  $(r, \varphi) \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , with a positive constant  $C_0$  depending on  $\Omega$  and the exponent  $\alpha$ .

We call a function  $\chi \in \mathring{V}(\Omega; r)$  a generalized solution of the problem (6.12), (6.13) if for any  $\eta \in \mathring{V}(\Omega; r)$ 

$$\nu \int_{\Omega} \left( \chi_{rr} \eta_{rr} + \frac{2}{r^2} \chi_{r\varphi} \eta_{r\varphi} + \frac{1}{r^4} \chi_{\varphi\varphi} \eta_{\varphi\varphi} + \frac{1}{r^2} \chi_r \eta_r \right) r \, dr \, d\varphi 
+ \int_{\Omega} \left[ \frac{\Delta \chi}{r} \frac{\partial(\chi, \eta)}{\partial(r, \varphi)} + \frac{\Delta \chi}{r} \frac{\partial(f, \eta)}{\partial(r, \varphi)} + \frac{\Delta f}{r} \frac{\partial(\chi, \eta)}{\partial(r, \varphi)} + \frac{F \Delta \chi}{2\pi r} \eta_r \right] r \, dr \, d\varphi 
= \int_{\Omega} g\eta r \, dr \, d\varphi.$$
(6.15)

The next statement is an analogue of Hopf's lemma (see Lemma 2.1).

**Lemma 6.1.** Let  $\Gamma \in C^{\infty}$  be a Jordan curve enclosing the origin. Let a and b be functions on this curve which satisfy (6.10). Then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a function  $f \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  such that the conditions (6.11) hold and

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \Delta \chi \frac{\partial(f,\chi)}{\partial(r,\varphi)} \, dx \right| \leqslant \varepsilon \|\chi\|_{\dot{H}^{2}(\Omega;r)}^{2} \qquad \forall \chi \in \mathring{V}(\Omega;r).$$
(6.16)

The proof of Lemma 6.1 was presented in [52].

Lemma 6.2. Assume the hypotheses of Lemma 6.1. If F satisfies

$$|F| < 2\pi\nu,\tag{6.17}$$

then each generalized solution  $\chi$  of the problem (6.12), (6.13) has the estimate

$$\|\chi\|_{\mathring{H}^2(\Omega;r)} \leqslant C_* \tag{6.18}$$

with a constant  $C_* = C_*(\nu, F, \Omega, a, b)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\eta = \chi$  in the identity (6.15). Then it takes the form

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \bigg[ \nu \bigg( \chi_{rr}^2 + \frac{2}{r^2} \chi_{r\varphi}^2 + \frac{1}{r^4} \chi_{\varphi\varphi}^2 + \frac{1}{r^2} \chi_r^2 \bigg) + \frac{F}{2\pi} \bigg( \frac{\chi_r^2}{r^2} - \frac{\chi_\varphi^2}{r^4} \bigg) + \frac{\Delta \chi}{r} \frac{\partial(f,\chi)}{\partial(r,\varphi)} \bigg] r \, dr \, d\varphi \\ &= \int_{\Omega} g \chi r \, dr \, d\varphi. \end{split}$$

Choosing f given by Lemma 6.1 and taking account of the representation (6.14) of g in terms of f and its derivatives, we then have

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ \nu \left( \chi_{rr}^2 + \frac{2}{r^2} \chi_{r\varphi}^2 + \frac{1}{r^4} \chi_{\varphi\varphi}^2 + \frac{1}{r^2} \chi_r^2 \right) - \frac{|F|}{2\pi} \left( \frac{\chi_r^2}{r^2} + \frac{\chi_\varphi^2}{r^4} \right) \right] r \, dr \, d\varphi$$
  
$$\leqslant \varepsilon \|\chi\|_{\dot{H}^2(\Omega;r)}^2 + \left( \nu \|f\|_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)} + c \|f\|_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)}^2 \right) \|\chi\|_{\dot{H}^2(\Omega;r)},$$

where the constant c depends only on  $\Omega$ . To finish the proof of the lemma it suffices to set

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\nu}{2} - \frac{|F|}{4\pi} \,,$$

which yields the required a priori bound for the norm of  $\chi$ :

$$\|\chi\|_{\mathring{H}^{2}(\Omega;r)} \leqslant 4\pi (2\pi\nu - |F|)^{-1} \left(\nu \|f\|_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)} + c\|f\|_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)}^{2}\right) = C_{*}$$
(6.19)

(here we be ar in mind that the derivative of a periodic function has zero mean value over the period).  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 6.1.** Under the conditions of Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2 the problem (6.12), (6.13) has at least one generalized solution  $\chi \in \mathring{V}(\Omega; r)$ , which has the estimate (6.19).

The proof of Theorem 6.1 is based on the natural regularization of the problem (6.12), (6.13) (see [52]). We give a brief sketch of the proof. Consider the following auxiliary problem: find a solution of (6.12) in  $\Omega_{\gamma}$  satisfying (6.13) and

$$\psi = 0, \quad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial r} = 0, \qquad x \in C_{\gamma}.$$
(6.20)

In the problem (6.12), (6.13), (6.20) we pass to a new unknown function  $\chi^{(\gamma)} = \psi - f^{(\gamma)}$ , where  $f^{(\gamma)}$  is a function such that

$$f^{(\gamma)} = a(x), \quad \frac{\partial f^{(\gamma)}}{\partial n} = b(x), \qquad x \in \Gamma,$$
  
$$f^{(\gamma)} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial f^{(\gamma)}}{\partial r} = 0, \qquad x \in C_{\gamma}.$$
 (6.21)

The function  $\chi^{(\gamma)}$  is a solution of the equation

$$\nu \Delta^2 \chi^{(\gamma)} - \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial (\Delta \chi^{(\gamma)}, \chi^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} - \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial (\Delta \chi^{(\gamma)}, f^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} - \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial (\Delta f^{(\gamma)}, \chi^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} - \frac{F}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial \Delta \chi^{(\gamma)}}{\partial r} = g^{(\gamma)}$$
(6.22)

and satisfies the boundary conditions

$$\chi^{(\gamma)} = 0, \quad \frac{\partial \chi^{(\gamma)}}{\partial n} = 0, \qquad x \in \Gamma,$$
  
$$\chi^{(\gamma)} = 0, \quad \frac{\partial \chi^{(\gamma)}}{\partial r} = 0, \qquad x \in C_{\gamma},$$
  
(6.23)

where

$$g^{(\gamma)} = -\nu\Delta^2 f^{(\gamma)} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial(\Delta f^{(\gamma)}, f^{(\gamma)})}{\partial(r, \varphi)} + \frac{F}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial\Delta f^{(\gamma)}}{\partial r} \,. \tag{6.24}$$

We call  $\chi^{(\gamma)} \in \mathring{H}^2(\Omega_{\gamma}; r)$  a generalized solution of the problem (6.22), (6.23) if for any  $\eta^{(\gamma)} \in \mathring{H}^2(\Omega_{\gamma}; r)$ 

$$\nu \int_{\Omega_{\gamma}} \left( \chi_{rr}^{(\gamma)} \eta_{rr}^{(\gamma)} + \frac{2}{r^2} \chi_{r\varphi}^{(\gamma)} \eta_{r\varphi}^{(\gamma)} + \frac{1}{r^4} \chi_{\varphi\varphi}^{(\gamma)} \eta_{\varphi\varphi}^{(\gamma)} + \frac{1}{r^2} \chi_r^{(\gamma)} \chi_r^{(\gamma)} \right) r \, dr \, d\varphi 
+ \int_{\Omega_{\gamma}} \left[ \frac{\Delta \chi^{(\gamma)}}{r} \frac{\partial (\chi^{(\gamma)}, \eta^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} + \frac{\Delta \chi^{(\gamma)}}{r} \frac{\partial (f^{(\gamma)}, \eta^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} \right] 
+ \frac{\Delta f^{(\gamma)}}{r} \frac{\partial (\chi^{(\gamma)}, \eta^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} + \frac{F \Delta \chi^{(\gamma)}}{2\pi r} \eta_r^{(\gamma)} r^{(\gamma)} r \, dr \, d\varphi 
= \int_{\Omega_{\gamma}} g^{(\gamma)} \eta^{(\gamma)} r \, dr \, d\varphi.$$
(6.25)

Let us now consider the family of problems (6.22), (6.23) with  $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_0]$ . For each of them we can prove its solvability using well-known methods (see, for instance, [2] and [7]). The proof is based on analogues of Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2. For each  $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_0]$  and for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists an  $f^{(\gamma)} \in \mathring{H}^2(\Omega_{\gamma}; r)$  satisfying (6.21) such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega_{\gamma}} \Delta \chi^{(\gamma)} \frac{\partial (f^{(\gamma)}, \chi^{(\gamma)})}{\partial (r, \varphi)} \, dr \, d\varphi \right| \leq \varepsilon \|\chi^{(\gamma)}\|_{\mathring{H}^{2}(\Omega_{\gamma}; r)}^{2} \tag{6.26}$$

for any  $\chi^{(\gamma)} \in \mathring{H}^2(\Omega_{\gamma}; r)$ . The proof of (6.26) repeats the proof of Lemma 6.1 almost word for word. It is important to see that we can take the same  $\varepsilon$  in (6.26) for all  $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_0]$ .

Next we prove an assertion similar to Lemma 6.2. Assume the hypotheses of Lemma 6.1 and let F satisfy (6.17). Then each generalized solution  $\chi^{(\gamma)}$  of (6.22), (6.23) has a bound

$$\|\chi^{(\gamma)}\|_{\mathring{H}^{2}(\Omega_{\gamma};r)} \leqslant C \tag{6.27}$$

with a constant C independent of  $\gamma$  for  $0 < \gamma < \gamma_0$ . Now it remains to pass to the limit as  $\gamma \to 0$  in the problem (6.22), (6.20). To do this we extend  $\chi^{(\gamma)}$  and  $f^{(\gamma)}$  to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega_{\gamma}$  by zero, keeping the same notation for them. The extended functions are defined in the whole of  $\Omega$  and have finite norms in  $\mathring{H}^2(\Omega; r)$ . By (6.27), the norms of the functions  $\chi^{(\gamma)}$  (for  $0 < \gamma \leq \gamma_0$ ) are bounded in this space. The family of functions  $\chi^{(\gamma)}$ ,  $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_0]$ , has a weak limit  $\chi$  as  $\gamma \to 0$ . The limit function belongs to  $\mathring{V}(\Omega; r)$ . The set of functions  $\chi^{(\gamma)}$ ,  $\gamma \in [0, \gamma_0]$ , is weakly compact in  $\mathring{H}^2(\Omega; r)$  and compact in  $W^{1,4}(\Omega)$ , so we can carry out a passage to the limit in (6.25) as  $\gamma \to 0$ . The limit function  $\chi$  satisfies (6.15), which completes the proof of Theorem 6.1.

**6.2.** Axially symmetric flows. Now let us consider the axially symmetric problem in a bounded domain  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  whose boundary is a surface of revolution  $S \in C^{\infty}$ . We denote the meridional section of Q by  $\Omega$ . The boundary of  $\Omega$  is formed by an arc  $\Gamma$  and a line segment  $\Lambda = \{r, z : r = 0, z_1 < z < z_2\}$  which contains sources or sinks distributed with constant linear density F (see Fig. 6). We must find a solution  $\mathbf{u} = (u_r, u_z)$ , p of the system (2.51) in  $\Omega$  which satisfies



Figure 6. Meridional section of the domain Q with sinks on the axis of symmetry

the conditions

$$u_r = \frac{F}{2\pi r} + a_r, \quad u_z = a_z, \qquad (r, z) \in \Gamma, \tag{6.28}$$

$$u_r = \frac{F}{2\pi r} [1 + o(1)], \quad u_z = o(1), \qquad r \to 0, \quad z \in (z_1, z_2), \tag{6.29}$$

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, dS = 0. \tag{6.30}$$

Assume that the vector field **a** has a divergence-free extension **b** to  $\Omega$  with finite Dirichlet integral. We introduce new unknown functions

$$w_r = u_r - \frac{q}{2\pi r} - b_r, \qquad w_z = u_z - b_z, \qquad \overline{p} = p + \frac{q^2}{8\pi^2 r^2}.$$
 (6.31)

The vector  $\mathbf{w} = (w_r, w_z)$  and the function  $\overline{p}$  satisfy in  $\Omega$  the system of equations

$$\begin{split} w_r \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} + w_z \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial z} + \frac{F}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} - \frac{F}{2\pi r^2} w_r + b_r \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} + b_z \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial z} + w_r \frac{\partial b_r}{\partial r} + b_z \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial z} \\ &= -\frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial r} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 w_r}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^2 w_r}{\partial z^2} - \frac{w_r}{r^2} \right) + g_r, \\ u_r \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial r} + u_z \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial z} + \frac{F}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial r} + b_r \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial r} + b_z \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial z} + u_r \frac{\partial b_z}{\partial r} + b_z \frac{\partial u_z}{\partial z} \\ &- \frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial z} + \nu \left( \frac{\partial^2 w_r}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w_r}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^2 w_r}{\partial z^2} \right) + g_z, \\ \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial (rw_r)}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial w_z}{\partial z} = 0 \end{split}$$

$$(6.32)$$

and the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{w} = 0, \qquad (r, z) \in \Gamma, \tag{6.33}$$

where  $g_r$  and  $g_z$  are the components of the vector

$$\mathbf{g} = \nu \Delta \mathbf{b} - \mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{b} - \frac{F}{2\pi} \nabla \left(\frac{\mathbf{b}}{r}\right).$$

Consider now the function space  $H(\Omega; r)$  equal to the closure of the set of divergence-free axially symmetric vector-valued functions  $\mathbf{v} \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with respect to the norm defined by the Dirichlet integral

$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H(\Omega,r)}^2 = \int_{\Omega} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial v_r}{\partial r} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial v_r}{\partial z} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial v_z}{\partial r} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{\partial v_z}{\partial z} \right)^2 + \frac{v_r^2}{r^2} \right] r \, dr \, dz.$$

We call a vector-valued function  $\mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega; r)$  a generalized solution of the problem (6.32), (6.33) if the integral identity

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} & \left[ \nu \left( \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} + \frac{u_r h_r}{r^2} \right) - \mathbf{w} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} - \mathbf{w} \cdot (\mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} - \mathbf{b} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{F}{2\pi r} \left( \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial r} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} - \frac{u_r h_r}{r} \right) \right] r \, dr \, dz = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} r \, dr \, dz \end{split}$$

holds for any  $\eta \in H(\Omega; r)$ . Setting  $\eta = \mathbf{u}$  here, we get that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ \nu \left( \nabla \mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{w} + \frac{u_r^2}{r^2} \right) - \frac{F u_r^2}{2\pi r^2} - \mathbf{b} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} \right] r \, dr \, dz = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \mathbf{w} r \, dr \, dz. \quad (6.34)$$

We now observe that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  we can construct an extension **b** of an arbitrary vector field **a** to  $\Omega$  such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{b} \cdot (\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w} r \, dr \, dz \right| \leq \varepsilon \|\mathbf{w}\|_{H(\Omega;r)}^{2} \qquad \forall \, \mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega;r).$$
(6.35)

Such an extension was constructed in [52] in terms of the stream function of an axially symmetric flow. Taking  $\varepsilon = (4\pi)^{-1}(2\pi\nu - F)$  and assuming that

$$F < 2\pi\nu, \tag{6.36}$$

we obtain from (6.34) and (6.35) the a priori estimate

$$\|\mathbf{w}\|_{H(\Omega;r)} \leqslant C_1 \big( \nu \|\mathbf{b}\|_{H(\Omega;r)} + C_2 \|\mathbf{b}\|_{H(\Omega;r)}^2 \big), \tag{6.37}$$

where  $C_2$  depends only on  $\Omega$  and where we can take  $C_1$  equal to  $4\pi(2\pi\nu - F)^{-1}$  for  $0 \leq F < 2\pi\nu$  and to  $2/\nu$  for  $F \leq 0$ . The estimate (6.37) is crucial for the proof of the next theorem [52].

**Theorem 6.2.** Let **b** be a divergence-free extension, with finite Dirichlet integral, of the vector field **a** in (6.28) to the domain  $\Omega$ . If F satisfies (6.36), then the problem (6.32), (6.33) has a generalized solution  $\mathbf{w} \in H(\Omega; r)$ , and the norm of **w** has the estimate (6.37).

Remarkably, we impose here a one-sided restriction on the parameter F: the distribution of sinks can have an arbitrary linear density. On the other hand, the solvability of the planar problem with a source or sink has been proved only when the absolute value of F satisfies (6.17) [51], [52]. By contrast, there are no restrictions on the norm of the function **a** in both problems.

### 7. Conclusion

The methods presented above cannot be generalized to three-dimensional problems. The Leray problem has been solved only in axially symmetric domains and remains open for an arbitrary three-dimensional domain with multiple boundary components. We believe that, as a first step in this direction, one can look at the flux problem with additional symmetry relative to a plane or relative to two mutually orthogonal planes (without the condition of axial symmetry). The main difficulties arising in the analysis of such a problem can be understood in the case when the flow region is a spherical layer. The idea of considering symmetric solutions of the flux problem (which is due to Amick [17], who realized it for planar flows) makes it possible to reduce the flux problem to a problem in a domain with simply connected boundary by 'cutting' the original domain along the line of symmetry. The following conjecture appears plausible. Assume that the flow has two planes of symmetry, which intersect all the boundary components of the flow region. Then (under the natural assumptions of smoothness for the input data) the flux problem has at least one solution.

The planar symmetric exterior problem (1.1)-(1.3) and the three-dimensional axially symmetric exterior problem were investigated in [21] and [24]. In both cases the solvability of the problem was established without restrictions on the fluxes of the boundary velocity field. However, the Leray problem in an arbitrary exterior planar or three-dimensional domain is still open. It seems that essentially new ideas are needed for its solution.

In [54], [13], [55] the stationary problem (1.1)–(1.3) was considered in noncompact domains  $\Omega$  with multiple boundary components. In these papers the solvability of (1.1)–(1.3) was established under the assumption that the fluxes of the boundary vector field across the inner boundary components are small, while the fluxes of the field across the outer boundary components can be arbitrary. In [54] and [13] solutions with a finite Dirichlet integral were found, and in [55] the Dirichlet integral could be either finite or infinite, depending on the geometry of the outlets of  $\Omega$  at infinity. It could be interesting to extend these results to the case of arbitrary fluxes of the boundary field across the inner boundary components.

Another interesting problem arises in the study of boundary layers adjoining parts with intensive inflow of a fluid across a permeable boundary of the flow region. The simplest version of the statement of such a problem is as follows. Consider a planar flow in a curvilinear annulus  $\Omega$  with outer boundary  $\Gamma_0$  and inner boundary  $\Gamma_1$ . Assume that the normal components of the velocity do not vanish on  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_1$ , and let  $F_0$  and  $F_1$  denote the corresponding velocity fluxes (clearly,  $F_1 = -F_0$ ). Then we can construct an asymptotic solution of the flux problem for  $Re = |F_1|/\nu \to \infty$  by using a modification of the classical Vishik–Lyusternik method [56]. By contrast to boundary layer theory in the flow problem [34], here the boundary layer has thickness of order  $Re^{-1}$  for large values of Re. The boundary layer is localized in a neighbourhood of  $\Gamma_1$  for  $F_1 > 0$  or in a neighbourhood of  $\Gamma_0$  for  $F_1 < 0$ . In general, it is a highly non-trivial problem to justify taking the formal asymptotics to be the leading term as  $Re \to \infty$  of the solution of the flux problem. However, there are some prospects for such a justification in the symmetric planar problem, where effective a priori estimates are known [14]. A natural approach to the justification will be to linearize the problem on an approximate solution and then to use Kantorovich's theorem on the convergence of Newton's method. Unfortunately, at this point we do not have enough information about the spectral properties of the linearized non-selfadjoint operator in the flux problem for large values of Re, because the asymptotic solution depends only implicitly on the parameter Re.

A methodical investigation of boundary-value problems for the Navier–Stokes equations with singularities in the flow region was begun less than a decade ago, although examples of exact (for instance, self-similar) singular solutions of these equations were well known [34]. In the planar problem with source or sink which was considered in [52] and [53], the singularity is characterized by the dimensionless parameter  $|F|/\nu = Re$ , which can be called the local Reynolds number. The methods proposed for proving solvability of the planar problem do not allow one to treat the case of large Reynolds numbers. The general case apparently requires completely new ideas, but we hope that under the additional assumption of a line of symmetry of the flow this can be proved using methods already available.

Results in [52] and [53] can be extended in several directions. Let us again consider planar flows with singularities, but now not in the interior but on the boundary  $\Gamma$  of the flow region. Specifically, there are two points  $A^+$  and  $A^-$  on  $\Gamma$  where a source and a sink with intensities F and -F, respectively, are located. On the rest of the boundary we impose the no-slip conditions. Is this problem for the system (1.1), (1.2) solvable for small values of  $|F|/\nu = Re$ ? As a first step, we can consider the case when the parts of the curve  $\Sigma$  near  $A^+$  and  $A^-$  are straight line segments intersecting at an angle  $\beta$ . Then the singular part of the solution is described by the solution of the problem of a planar diffuser flow [34] localized near the corner points. This solution is unique for small Re and  $\beta < \beta^* \approx 2.25$  [57]. After separating out this singularity of the velocity field, we arrive at a problem of the same type as one in § 6, though complicated by the presence of boundary corners. In view of Kondrat'ev's results in [58] there are hopes that the Dirichlet integral of the regular component of the velocity field is finite when the angle  $\beta$  and the Reynolds number Re are sufficiently small.

It could also be interesting to discuss planar flows with singularities on the boundary of the domain in the case when the source or the sink is located at a corner with zero opening angle.

Problems with singularities of higher orders than the ones in [52] and [53] seem significantly more complicated. One example is the axially symmetric problem with a point source or sink in the flow region. Even the appropriate function space is not so obvious here. This is because after linearizing the equations (1.1), (1.2) on the flow produced by the source (or sink) there occur terms containing first-order derivatives which are not subordinate to the Stokes operator in Sobolev or Kondratiev spaces. Furthermore, in the three-dimensional case the power F of the point source does not have the same dimension as the viscosity, and introducing a local Reynolds number is not productive.

As mentioned in the Introduction, complications in the analysis of solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations in domains with boundary consisting of several components are characteristic for stationary problems: no such complications occur in initial-boundary value problems. However, there also exist non-stationary problems without initial conditions in which the presence of several boundary components essentially complicates the analysis. Such are problems with time-periodic values of the velocity vector field prescribed on the boundary of the flow region. In this case one would expect a time-periodic solution to exist. An existence theorem for periodic solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations with homogeneous boundary conditions in the case of periodic external forces was proved by Yudovich in [59]. In a recent paper [60] Kobayashi studied the flux problem in a symmetric plane domain with symmetric and time-periodic velocity vector prescribed on the boundary of the domain. He proved that a time-periodic solution exists for any values of the partial fluxes. It would be interesting to look at this problem in an arbitrary bounded plane domain, in a bounded axially symmetric three-dimensional domain, and in various classes of unbounded domains.

It also seems reasonable to consider the problem with a pulsating source or sink in a plane domain (an analogue of the problem treated in § 6.1). If the power of the source (or sink) depends periodically on the time and the corresponding Reynolds number is not very large, then we can expect such a problem to be solvable in the class of periodic solutions.

# Bibliography

- J. Leray, "Étude de diverses équations intégrales non linéaires et de quelques problèmes que pose l'hydrodynamique", J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 12 (1933), 1–82.
- [2] О. А. Ладыженская, Mamemamuческие вопросы динамики вязкой несжимаемой экидкости, 2-е изд., Наука, М. 1970, 288 с.; English transl. of 1st ed.,
  О. А. Ladyzhenskaya, The mathematical theory of viscous incompressible flow, 2nd English ed., rev. and enlarged, Math. Appl., vol. 2, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris 1969, xviii+224 pp.
- [3] E. Hopf, "Über die Anfangswertaufgabe für die hydrodynamischen Grundgleichungen", Math. Nachr. 4:1-6 (1951), 213–231.
- [4] V. I. Yudovich, "Eleven great problems of mathematical hydrodynamics", Mosc. Math. J. 3:2 (2003), 711–737.
- [5] О. А. Ладыженская, В. А. Солонников, "О некоторых задачах векторного анализа и обобщенных постановках краевых задач для уравнений Навье-Стокса", Краевые задачи математической физики и смежные вопросы теории функций. 9, Зап. науч. сем. ЛОМИ, 59, Изд-во «Наука», Ленингр. отд., Л. 1976, с. 81–116; English transl., О. А. Ladyzhenskaya and V. A. Solonnikov, "Some problems of vector analysis and generalized formulations of boundary-value problems for the Navier–Stokes equations", J. Soviet Math. 10:2 (1978), 257–286.
- [6] E. Hopf, "Ein allgemeiner Endlichkeitssatz der Hydrodynamik", Math. Ann. 117:1 (1941), 764–775.
- [7] H. Fujita, "On the existence and regularity of the steady-state solutions of the Navier–Stokes equation", J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. 1 9 (1961), 59–102.
- [8] R. Finn, "On the steady-state solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations. III", Acta Math. 105:3-4 (1961), 197–244.
- [9] G. P. Galdi, "On the existence of steady motions of a viscous flow with nonhomogeneous boundary conditions", *Matematiche (Catania)* 46:1 (1991), 503–524.
- [10] Л. И. Сазонов, "О существовании стационарного симметричного решения двумерной задачи о протекании жидкости", *Матем. заметки* 54:6 (1993), 138–141; English transl., L. I. Sazonov, "On the existence of a stationary

symmetric solution of the two-dimensional fluid flow problem", *Math. Notes* **54**:6 (1993), 1280–1283.

- [11] W. Borchers and K. Pileckas, "Note on the flux problem for stationary incompressible Navier–Stokes equations in domains with a multiply connected boundary", Acta Appl. Math. 37:1-2 (1994), 21–30.
- [12] H. Kozono and T. Yanagisawa, "Leray's problem on the stationary Navier–Stokes equations with inhomogeneous boundary data", *Math. Z.* 262:1 (2009), 27–39.
- [13] J. Neustupa, "A new approach to the existence of weak solutions of the steady Navier–Stokes system with inhomogeneous boundary data in domains with noncompact boundaries", Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 198:1 (2010), 331–348.
- [14] H. Fujita, "On stationary solutions to Navier–Stokes equation in symmetric plane domains under general outflow condition", *Navier–Stokes equations: theory and numerical methods* (Varenna, 1997), Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser., vol. 388, Longman, Harlow 1998, pp. 16–30.
- [15] V. V. Pukhnachev, "Viscous flows in domains with a multiply connected boundary", New directions in mathematical fluid mechanics, Adv. Math. Fluid Mech., Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel 2010, pp. 333–348.
- [16] H. Morimoto, "A remark on the existence of 2-D steady Navier–Stokes flow in bounded symmetric domain under general outflow condition", J. Math. Fluid Mech. 9:3 (2007), 411–418.
- [17] Ch. J. Amick, "Existence of solutions to the nonhomogeneous steady Navier–Stokes equations", *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 33:6 (1984), 817–830.
- [18] М. В. Коробков, "Закон Бернулли при минимальных предположениях гладкости", Докл. PAH 436:6 (2011), 727–730; English transl., M. V. Korobkov, "Bernoulli law under minimal smoothness assumptions", Dokl. Math. 83:1 (2011), 107–110.
- [19] M. V. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, and R. Russo, "On the flux problem in the theory of steady Navier–Stokes equations with nonhomogeneous boundary conditions", Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 207:1 (2013), 185–213.
- [20] M. V. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, and R. Russo, "Steady Navier–Stokes system with nonhomogeneous boundary conditions in the axially symmetric case", C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. IIB Méc. 340:3 (2012), 115–119.
- [21] M. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, and R. Russo, "The existence of a solution with finite Dirichlet integral for the steady Navier–Stokes equations in a plane exterior symmetric domain", J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 101:3 (2014), 257–274.
- [22] M. V. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, and R. Russo, "Solution of Leray's problem for stationary Navier–Stokes equations in plane and axially symmetric spatial domains", Ann. of Math. (2) 181:2 (2015), 769–807.
- [23] M. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, and R. Russo, "The existence theorem for steady Navier–Stokes equations in the axially symmetric case", Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 14:1 (2015), 233–262; 2011 (v2 – 2012), 36 pp., arXiv:1110.6301.
- [24] M. Korobkov, K. Pileckas, and R. Russo, The existence theorem for the steady Navier–Stokes problem in exterior axially symmetric 3D domains, 2014, 75 pp., arXiv: 1403.6921.
- [25] J. Bourgain, M. V. Korobkov, and J. Kristensen, "On the Morse–Sard property and level sets of Sobolev and BV functions", *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.* 29:1 (2013), 1–23.
- [26] E. M. Stein, Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions, Princeton Math. Ser., vol. 30, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ 1970, xiv+290 pp.
- [27] A. Takeshita, "A remark on Leray's inequality", Pacific J. Math. 157:1 (1993), 151–158.

- [28] G. P. Galdi, An introduction to the mathematical theory of the Navier–Stokes equations. Steady-state problems, 2nd ed., Springer Monogr. Math., Springer, New York 2011, xiv + 1018 pp.
- [29] R. Farwig, H. Kozono, and T. Yanagisawa, "Leray's inequality in general multi-connected domains in R<sup>n</sup>", Math. Ann. 354:1 (2012), 137–145.
- [30] J. G. Heywood, "On the impossibility, in some cases, of the Leray-Hopf condition for energy estimates", J. Math. Fluid Mech. 13:3 (2011), 449-457.
- [31] О. А. Ладыженская, "Исследование уравнения Навье–Стокса в случае стационарного движения несжимаемой жидкости", УМН 14:3(87) (1959), 75–97; English transl., O. A. Ladyzhenskaya, "Investigation of the Navier–Stokes equation for a stationary flow of an incompressible fluid", Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, vol. 25, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI 1963, pp. 173–197.
- [32] И. И. Ворович, В. И. Юдович, "Стационарное течение вязкой несжимаемой жидкости", *Матем. сб.* 53(95):4 (1961), 393–428. [I. I. Vorovich and V. I. Yudovich, "Steady flow of a viscous incompressible fluid", *Mat. Sb.* 53(95):4 (1961), 393–428.]
- [33] Л. В. Капитанский, К. И. Пилецкас, "О пространствах соленоидальных векторных полей и краевых задачах для уравнений Навье–Стокса в областях с некомпактными границами", Краевые задачи математической физики. 12, Сборник работ, Тр. МИАН СССР, 159, 1983, с. 5–36; English transl., L. V. Kapitanskii and K. I. Pileckas, "Spaces of solenoidal vector fields and boundary value problems for the Navier–Stokes equations in domains with noncompact boundaries", Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 159 (1984), 3–34.
- [34] Н. Е. Кочин, И. А. Кибель, Н. В. Розе, *Teopemuчeская гидромеханика*, ч. 2, 4-е изд., Физматгиз, М. 1963, 728 с.; German transl. of 4th ed., N. E. Kotchin, I. A. Kibel, and N. V. Rose, *Theoretische Hydromechanik*, vol. II, Akademie-Verlag, Berlin 1955, viii+569 pp.
- [35] H. Fujita and H. Morimoto, "A remark on the existence of the Navier–Stokes flow with non-vanishing outflow condition", *Nonlinear waves* (Sapporo 1995), GAKUTO Internat. Ser. Math. Sci. Appl., vol. 10, Gakkōtosho, Tokyo 1997, pp. 53–61.
- [36] A. Russo and G. Starita, "On the existence of steady-state solutions to the Navier–Stokes system for large fluxes", Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 7:1 (2008), 171–180.
- [37] H. Morimoto, "A solution to the stationary Navier–Stokes equations under the boundary condition with non-vanishing outflow", Mem. Inst. Sci. Technol. Meiji Univ. 31 (1992), 7–12.
- [38] H. Morimoto, "Stationary Navier–Stokes equations with non-vanishing outflow condition", *Hokkaido Math. J.* 24:3 (1995), 641–648.
- [39] H. Morimoto and S. Ukai, "Perturbation of the Navier–Stokes flow in an annular domain with the non-vanishing outflow condition", J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 3:1 (1996), 73–82.
- [40] H. Fujita, H. Morimoto, and H. Okamoto, "Stability analysis of Navier–Stokes flows in annuli", Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 20:11 (1997), 959–978.
- [41] В. И. Полежаев, А. В. Бунэ, Н. А. Верезуб, Г. С. Глушко, В. Л. Грязнов, К. Г. Дубовик, С. А. Никитин, А. И. Простомолотов, А. И. Федосеев, С. Г. Черкасов, Математическое моделирование конвективного теплообмена на основе уравнений Навье-Стокса, Наука, М. 1987, 272 с. [V. I. Polezhaev, A. V. Bunè, N. A. Verezub, G. S. Glushko, V. L. Gryaznov, K. G. Dubovik, S. A. Nikitin, A. I. Prostomolotov, A. I. Fedoseev, and S. G. Cherkasov, Mathematical modelling of convective heat and mass transfer on the basis of Navier-Stokes equations, Nauka, Moscow 1987, 272 pp.]

- [42] Г. В. Алексеев, В. В. Пухначев, "Осесимметричная задача протекания для уравнений Навье–Стокса в переменных завихренность–функция тока", Докл. PAH 445:4 (2012), 402–406; English transl., G. V. Alekseev and V. V. Pukhnachev, "The axially symmetric flow-through problem for the Navier–Stokes equations in variables 'vorticity-stream function", Dokl. Physics 57:8 (2012), 301–306.
- [43] J. R. Dorronsoro, "Differentiability properties of functions with bounded variation", *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 38:4 (1989), 1027–1045.
- [44] J. Bourgain, M. V. Korobkov, and J. Kristensen, "On the Morse–Sard property and level sets of W<sup>n,1</sup> Sobolev functions on ℝ<sup>n</sup>", J. Reine Angew. Math., 2013 (Online first).
- [45] M. V. Korobkov and J. Kristensen, "On the Morse–Sard theorem for the sharp case of Sobolev mappings", *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 63:6 (2014), 1703–1724; www.iumj.indiana.edu/IUMJ/Preprints/5431.pdf.
- [46] А. С. Кронрод, "О функциях двух переменных", УМН 5:1(35) (1950), 24–134.
   [A. S. Kronrod, "On functions of two variables", Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 5:1(35) (1950), 24–134.]
- [47] R. L. Moore, "Concerning triods in the plane and the junction points of plane continua", Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 14:1 (1928), 85–88.
- [48] C. R. Pittman, "An elementary proof of the triod theorem", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 25:4 (1970), 919.
- [49] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy, Measure theory and fine properties of functions, Stud. Adv. Math., CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL 1992, viii+268 pp.
- [50] J. Malý, D. Swanson, and W. P. Ziemer, "The co-area formula for Sobolev mappings", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 355:2 (2003), 477–492 (electronic).
- [51] В. В. Пухначев, "Проблема Ж. Лерэ и гипотеза В. И. Юдовича", Изе. еузое. Сев.-Кавказ. регион. Естеств. науки, 2009, Спец. выпуск "Актуальные проблемы математической гидродинамики", 185–194. [V. V. Pukhnachev, "J. Leray problem and V. I. Yudovich's conjecture", Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Sev. Kavkaz. Region. Estestv. Nauki, 2009, Special issue "Current Problems of Mathematical Hydrodynamics", 185–194.]
- [52] V. V. Pukhnachev, "Singular solutions of Navier-Stokes equations", Proceedings of the St. Petersburg Mathematical Society, vol. XV: Advances in mathematical analysis of partial differential equations, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, vol. 232, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI 2014, pp. 193–218.
- [53] A. Russo and A. Tartaglione, "On the existence of singular solutions of the stationary Navier–Stokes problem", *Lith. Math. J.* 53:4 (2013), 423–437.
- [54] J. Neustupa, "On the steady Navier–Stokes boundary value problem in an unbounded 2D domain with arbitrary fluxes through the components of the boundary", Ann. Univ. Ferrara Sez. VII Sci. Mat. 55:2 (2009), 353–365.
- [55] K. Kaulakytė and K. Pileckas, "On the nonhomogeneous boundary value problem for the Navier–Stokes system in a class of unbounded domains", J. Math. Fluid Mech. 14:4 (2012), 693–716.
- [56] М. И. Вишик, Л. А. Люстерник, "Регулярное вырождение и пограничный слой для линейных дифференциальных уравнений с малым параметром", *УМН* 12:5(77) (1957), 3–122. [М. І. Vishik and L. A. Lyusternik, "Regular degeneration and boundary layer for linear differential equations with small parameter", *Uspekhi Mat. Nauk* 12:5(77) (1957), 3–122.]
- [57] L. Rivkind and V. A. Solonnikov, "Jeffery–Hamel asymptotics for steady state Navier–Stokes flow in domains with sector-like outlets to infinity", J. Math. Fluid Mech. 2:4 (2000), 324–352.

- [58] В. А. Кондратьев, "Асимптотика решения уравнения Навье–Стокса вблизи угловой точки границы", Прикл. матем. мех. **31**:1 (1967), 119–123; English transl., V. A. Kondrat'ev, "Asymptotic of solution of the Navier–Stokes equation near the angular point of the boundary", J. Appl. Math. Mech. **31**:1 (1967), 125–129.
- [59] В.И. Юдович, "Периодические движения вязкой несжимаемой жидкости", Докл. AH CCCP 130:6 (1960), 1214–1217; English transl., V.I. Judovič, "Periodic motions of a viscous incompressible fluid", Soviet Math. Dokl. 1 (1960), 168–172.
- [60] T. Kobayashi, "Time periodic solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations under general outflow condition in a two dimensional symmetric channel", *Hokkaido Math. J.* **39**:3 (2010), 291–316.

# Mikhail V. Korobkov

Received 20/AUG/14 Translated by N. KRUZHILIN

Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences; Novosibirsk State University *E-mail:* korob@math.nsc.ru

#### Konstantin Pileckas

Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania *E-mail*: konstantinas.pileckas@mif.vu.lt

## Vladislav V. Pukhnachev

Lavrentyev Insitute of Hydrodynamics of Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences; Novosibirsk State University *E-mail*: pukhnachev@gmail.com

#### Remigio Russo

Seconda Università degli Studi di Napoli, Napoli, Italy *E-mail*: remigio.russo@unina2.it

1122